Attachment #5

Excerpt of Section 14 of the Municipal Government Act and Previous
Inquiry Officer Decisions

Expropriation powers
14(1) In this section. “organization™ means any of the following
organizations in which the municipality is a member or has
acquired shares:

(a) a society under the Societies Act;
(b) an association registered under Part 9 of the Companies Act.

(c) a corporation under the Business Corporations Act that is a
charity or operates for non-profit purposes:

(d) a controlled corporation as defined in section 75.1.

(2) If a council wants to acquire an estate or interest in land. inside
or outside the municipality

(a) for a purpose authorized by an enactment.

(b) to carry out an area redevelopment plan under Part 17,
whether undertaken by the municipality alone or in
conjunction with another person,

(¢) to improve land owned by the municipality,
(d) for the purpose of selling the land as building sites,.

(e) toenable an organization to carry out a development as
defined in Part 17 or a redevelopment. or

(f) for any other municipal purpose,

it may acquire the estate or interest in the land by expropriation
under the Expropriation Act.

(3) No council may expropriate an estate or interest in mines or
minerals.

(4) The expropriation of an estate or interest in land that is outside
the municipality is subject to section 72.

(5) When the council is of the opinion that the municipality can
obtain a more reasonable price or other advantage by acquiring the

|
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whole or a larger portion of any parcel of land of which a part may
be expropriated by the municipality. the municipality may
expropriate the whole or the larger portion of the parcel.

RSA 2000 cM-26 514:2016 c24 57

|
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P L

;ﬁ T IN THE MATTER OF THE EXPROPRIATION ACT,

' ? BEING CHAPTER E-16 OF THE REVISED STATUTES
OF ALBERTA, 1980, AND AMENDMENTS THERETO

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE INTENDED
EXPROPRIATION BY THE TOWN OF WESTLOCK OF

THE NORTHERLY EIGHTY (30) ACRES, MORE OR LESS, OF
THE NORTH EAST QUARTER OF SECTION THIRTY THREE (33)
TOWNSHIP FIFTY NINE (59)

. RANGE TWENTY SIX (26)
WEST OF THE FOURTH MERIDIAN
CONTAINING 64.7 HECTARES (160 ACRES) MORE OR LESS
EXCEPTING THEREOUT: HECTARES 'ACRES MORE OR LESS
A. PLAN 7721021 - ROAD 0.979 2.42
EXCEPTING THEREOUT ALL MINES AND MINERALS

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE NOTICE OF OBJECTION |
TO THE SAID INTENDED EXPROPRIATION FILED BY !
MARYVIN D. MARKS, OF WESTLOCK, IN THE PROVINCE

OF ALEERTA. \

AND IN THE MATTER OF AN INQUIRY IN RESPECT THEREOF
PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF THE SAID ACT BY

REX M, NIELSEN, ESQ., AS INQUIRY OFFICER APPOINTED
BY THE DEPUTY MINISTER OF JUSTICE AND DEPUTY
ATTORNEY-GENERAL-TO-CONDUCT THE-SAID-INQUIRY:

REPORT OF THE INQUIRY OFFICER

BEFORE: REX M. NIELSEN, ESQ.

HELD AT: TOWN OF WESTLOCK, COUNCIL CHAMBERS
10003 - 106 STREET
WESTLOCK, ALBERTA

DATE: TUESDAY, JUNE 15TH, 2001

APPEARING FOR THE EXPROPRIATING AUTHORITY -
ME. D.W. MOROZ,
MAH & CHIU, BARRISTERS AND SOLICITORS
SOLICITORS FOR THE TOWN OF WESTLOCK

APPEARING FOR MARVIN D. MARKS -
MR. D. P, MALLON
PROWSE & CHOWNE, BARRISTERS AND SOLICITORS

SOLICITORS FOR MARVIN D. MARKS
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o
1. PURPOSE AND INITIATING PROCEDURE

This is an intended expropriation by the Town of Westlock (hereinafier referred
to as "the Town"}) of the Northerly Eighty {80} acres more or less of the following land:

THE NORTH EAST QUARTER OF SECTION THIRTY THREE (33)
TOWNSHIP FIFTY NINE (59)

RANGE TWENTY SIX (26) -

WEST OF THE FOURTH MERIDIAN

CONTAINING 64.7 HECTARES (160 ACRES) MORE OR LESS
EXCEPTING THEREOUT: HECTARES ACRES MORE OR LESS
A. PLAN 7721021 - ROAD 0.579 2.42
EXCEPTING THEREOUT ALL MINES AND MINERALS

(hereinafter referred to as “the ]'..nnd'_), from the registered owner thereof, Marvin D, Marks

(hereinafter referred to as "the Owner"}. I

The Town by Resolution No. 100.2001 on March 19, 2000 resolved to
expropriate the Land.

The Town's Notice of Intention to Eapropriate dated March 2%th, 2001
(hereinafter referred 10 as "the Notice of Intention to Expropriate”) was regisiered against the
title 1o the Land on April 4th, 2001 as registration number 012094231, Also registered against
the title to the Land prior to the Notice of Intention to Expropriate are:

1. Caveal No. 567480 registered on December 8, 1971;
b Caveat No, 842210174 registered on September 24, 1984,

The Town's Notice of Intention to Expropriate was served on the Chwner on April

5, 2001,
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The Towﬁ's Notice of Intention w Expropriate was published in the Westlock
News on April Sth and 23rd, 2001 issuss of the said newspaper.

‘The Owners through their then solicitors, Tims & Company, served a Notice of
Objection dated the 26th day of April, 2001 on the Town.

The Notice of Intention to Expropriate stated that the work or purpose for which
the interest, being a fee simple interest, in the Land is required is for the development of an

industrial commercial park.,

Clark Dalton, Director ({Legal Research & Analysis), Alberta Justice appointed
Rex M. Nielsen, Barrister and Solicitor, on April 30th, 2001 as the Inquiry Officer (hereinafter
referred to as “the Inquiry Officer”) to conduct the inguiry with respect to the intended
cxpropriation by the Town pursuant to and in accordanul: with !hc provisions nf The

Expropriation Act and the regulannns made thersunder,

O May 16, 2001, Jeanette Fedorak, Co-Director (Legal Services), Civil Law,
Alberta Justice, pursuant to Section 23{ 1){b) of The Expropriation Act extended by 30 days, the
time within which the Inguiry Dfﬁcl:r had to make his report with respect o the intended
expropriation by the Town. On the same date, the said Co-Director extended by 30 days the
time for registration of the Certificate of Approval by the Town at the Land Titles Cffice
pursuant to The Expropriation Act. The latter extension Order was registered at the Land 'I";lll:s
Office at Edmonton, Alberta, against the Land as Registration No. 012149311 on May 24th,

2001.

The Inquiry Officer served a Notice of Inquiry (hereinafter referred to as “the
MNotice of Inquiry") on the solicitors for the Town and the solicitors for the Owner, giving notice
of an Inguiry Hearing with respect to the Notice of Objection by the Owner to the intended
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expropriation by the Town that would be held at the Town of Westlock offices, 10003 - 106
Straet, Westlock, Alberta, on Tuesday, June 19th, 2001, commencing at 9:00 a.m. (hereinafier
referred to as "the Inquiry Hearing"). Each party was requested in the Notice of Inquiry to file
with the Inguiry Officer and each of them with the other, a writien beief of their casé together
with all maps, plans, studies and documents intended to be presented in evidence at the inquiry.

Briefs were filed with the Inguiry Officer by the solicitors for the Town and the

solicitors for the Owner,

The Inquiry Hearing procesded cn June 19th, 2001 and concludéd on that date.
Counsel for the Town and counsel for the Owner appeared at the hearing. B

Counsel for the Town advised the hearing that he had no preliminary matters to
deal with.

Counsel for the Owner advised the hearing that he had no preliminary matiers 1o

deal with.

IL. SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT THE HEARING

A.  EXHIBITS

1. Tab 1 in the Town of Westlock's materials, Town
of Westlock authorizing resolution.

3. Tab 2 in the Town of Westlock's materials,
document  entitled  Motice  of Intention  to
Expropriate.

3. Tab 3 in the Town of Westlock's materials,
document entitled Affidavit of Service.
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4, Tab 4 in the Town of Westlock's materials,
document entitled Affidavit of Publication.

3; Tab 6 in the Town of Westlock's materials, map of
the Town of Westlock,

6. Tab 8 in the Town of Westlock's materials,
document entitled 1own of Westlock Potential

Developments.

7. Tab 7 in the Tawn of Westlock’s materials, land
use map of the Town of Westlock.

8 Docuiment entitled town of Westlock Municipal
Development Plan 1998, Bylaw Mo. 06-98.

. Letter from Mr. Bancroft to Mr. Marks dated
February 17, 2000,

10, E-mail from Colleen Thome 1o Jack and Pat
Armitage t!at:q Februnrj.-' 16, 2000, B ) |

11, Document entitled Alberta Primary traffic Volume
History Report, 1990 to 1959,

I2.  Aerial photograph and overlay of the Town of
Westlock prepared by Mr. MacKenzie.

13, Letter to Jack Armitage from the Town of Westlock
dated July 14, 1998,

4. Zoning Plan diagram indicating C3 commercial
districting,

15, Letter from Alberta Transportation dated December
21, 1994,

|
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B. SUMMARY OF TOWN'S WITNESS EVIDENCE

Witness - Mr. Garth Bancroft

The Town’'s first witness was its Town Manager, Mr. Gacth Bancroft. He was
sworn by the reporter, He has been employed in that position since 1990,

His formal academic training includes a Wiilities Officer designation and a four
year University of Alberta, Depariment of Extension, Local Government Administration

Certificate.

He explained that the Town's current Industrial Park is located west of 98th
Avenue and north of Highway 18 in the Town of Westlock. He also advised that this industrial
park is essentially fully developed and that the Town did not uv}n any land in same for
development, This Industrial Parkc was first started approximately 26 years ago. Exhibil
MNumber 5 was presented to show the chronological development of misllnduslrjal Park,

Mr. Bancroft explained that their was demand for industrial - commercial
pro-perLies in the Town, Exhibit INu;nbELI' 6 was presented as evidence of such demand. He
suggested that high traffic counts on adjacent roadways, larger sized parcels of a five acre
minimum, and being located adjacent to Highway 18 east of the Highway 44 are criteria for
interested business developers. In cross examination by Mr, Mallon, Mr, Bancrofi agreed that
the Boston Pizza enquiry is currently on property south of the hospital in the Town. In addition,
Mr. Bancroft confirmed that the John Deere people asked the Town to see if land across from
the Case dealership would be available for development and that this is a motivater for the

development of the Lands,
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Mr. Bancroft testified that the highest traffic counts on Highway 18 existed in an
easterly direction from the intersection of Highway 18 and 44. Exhibit Number 11 wasg
presented to show traffic counts from as recently as 1999 to substantiate the Town's position o-n
traffic counts. He admitted in cross examination by Mr. Mallon that the redesignation of
Highway 794 to Secondary Highway 44 snd a new truck siop development off Highway 16
slightly east of Highway 44 are factors of change’ that would effect traffic count numbers, He
also was unable to confirm if the Exhibit Number 11 traffic count numbers were local or through
traffic or commercial or industrial or passenger traffic. Moreover, Mr. Bancroft testified that
such specific traffic information would be meaningful in an assessment of what this raffic means

to land that is going to be d:sEgm.Eed a5 industrial or wiilized as industrial or commercial.

Other reasons presented by Mr. Bancroft for favouring industrial development of
the Lands rather than other property included the nuisance o residential owners of wind carried
debris from industrial sites in the prevailing north and northwest winds that would not present

T T a problem in developing the Lands and waler and sewer ulilities being available for connection
to the Lands from adjacent [ands to the Lands on the south sids of Highway 18, '

Mr. Bancroft identified Exhibit Number B as the Town's 1998 Municipal
Development Plan.  Mr. Bancroft confirmed this Municipal Development Plan was cmatc-:i
through a review process starting in 1996 and public hearings in 1997 to be finally approved by
the then Town Council in 1998, A professional planner assisted in its creation, He confirmed
that this plan recommended development of the industrial-commercial park al property on the
west end of the Town, Mr. Bancroft confirmed that this Municipal Development Plan
emphasized commercial 'develnpmem- in the central area of Town and that it is always
encouraged to develop the central area of Town. He stated that notwithstanding same, a political
decision was made to proceed with the Lands notwithstanding this Municipal Development Plan.
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" Mr, Bancroft conficomed that this Municipal Development Plan suggested a Stagi'l}g;
of development for the Town of non-residential development lands with lands on the west part
of the Town being in stage one and the Lands being in stage 2 and 3. In cross examination by
Mr. Mallon, he said the Town Council decided to change the staging priorities without public

input,

br. Bancroft testified that the Town wrote Mr, Marks one letter and met with him.
on a ceuple of occasions in regard to negotiations. Neither [;I'IEE nor impact on Mr, Marks'
business were discussed by Mr, Bancroft with Mr, Marks., The form of development as
expressed in Exhibit Numb\l:rg was discussed by Mr. Bancroft, Mr. Bancroft in re-examination
by Mr. Moroz, stated that Mr. Marks never got back to the Town about their written enquiry.

Mr. Bancroft testified that the Town was negotiating regarding both the Lands and
with owners of land on the west end of the Town at approximately the same time in February
2000, 2 s Lt i vt oF IS LA N B E SN N T oo Wit b
looking at both getting their costs back and taking a profit. He testified (hat the most recent cost
information for connecting Town sewer and water 1o the North East Quarter of Section Thirty-
Cne, Tuwnship. Fifty Nine, Range Twenty Six, West of the Pourth Meridian would be
5125,000.00 from 2 quote some time earlier which he says is likely to have gone up by today.

He has no exact cost of connecting water and sewer (o the Lands.

C. SUMMARY OF OWNER'S EVIDENCE

Witness - Mr. ]'\-_I- arvin D Marks

The Cwner gave evidence on his own behalf as his first witness. He was sworn

by the reporter.

a

|
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Mr. Marks is sixry-one years of age and is a farmer in the area of Westlock, He
farms approximately three thousand acres. Approximately seven hundred acres of that 15 leased
land. The balance is owned including the Lands, He also owns the south half section of Section

Thirty Three, Township Fifty Nine, Range Tw:m.j,-' Six, West of the Foarth Meridian.

Mr. Marks’ farming operation is a mixed grain &nd cow/calf beef cattle operation.
He proposes that Section Thirty Three, Township Fi_ﬁr Nine, Range Twenty Six, West of the
Fourth Meridian is the heart of his farming and cattle operation containing the farm yard,
homes, buildings, cattle pens and grain storage [acilities on the north west quarter site ("the
Hisins progistey=)’ of it ssctiori, - Fe alab tesEfiad % the imefiliines snel nedd of th wiitsé frii
dugouts on the Lands o supply walter to his cattle pens on the said north west quarter of that
section. He described his water and electrical line from the home property to those dugouts for
such purposes. He discussed his need of the Lands during calving season. He also discussed
his nse of the Lands for pasture and particular use for both cattle requiring medical attenticn and

artificial breeding purposes during the spring and summer, He confirmed the Lands would not

be used berween November and March

Mr. Marks also testificd that a private airstrip exists on the Lands and is used
primarily by a farm equipment dcalerfpipl_adjaccm to the Lands which Mr. Marks has an interest
in. This private airstrip is used by farmers flying in to pick up pants required fast during harvest
time, Highway lights are used_ a5 reference lights for the airstrip along with a tower with a red
light on it at night on the home property for use by such farmers at night. He explained the

preparation reguired for creation of this steip and the three years necessary to establish same.

Mr, Marks confirmed the negotiations he had with Mr, Bancroft as constituting
a telephone call and two mestings in the summers of 1999 and 2000 respectively, He explained
discussions about Ways to arrange for development of the Lands including the Town developing
same, a joint venture, or an outright sale as proposed by Mr. Bancroft, He testified that in the
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first meeting he told Mr. Baneroft he would give those sugpestions some thought and that is
where it was left. He testified that the second meeting did not address in any significant detail

. what the Town wanted to do, how much they would pay or what their plans were.

Regarding the dugout on the property, Mr. Marks testified that it would be costly
to move same and that the inlet mechanics would be very important, He testified the inlet for
the dugout comes from the south and west of the dugout,

Mr. Marks testified that prior to the Notice of Expropriation he had oot
considered development ofl the Lands. Subsequent o that Notice he is prepared to look at the
development of the Lands but Mr, Marks testified that his property immediately west of the
Tndustrial Park, if expropriated, would be less damaging to him than expropriation of the Lands.
Those westerly lands are not within the Town of Westlock municipal limits.

Witness - Mr. Jack .-\rmflanc

The Owner's second witness was Jack Armitage. He was sworn by the reporter.
Mr. Armitage owns or is part owner of land on the west side of the Town south of Highway 18
marked on Exhibit 12 by a purple star and legally described as the portion west of the railway
line through the Morth East Quarter Secticn of Section Thirty One, Township Fifty Nine, Range
Twenty Six, West of the Fourth Meridian. He testified this land is zoned industrial and parly

highway commercial,

He explained that in nﬁpmximnt:ly 1994 the Town introduced a possible client,
* The Alberta Wheat Pool, to them who was interested in building 2n elevator system on rail

trackage, That project died of its own volition.
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He testified that a farm equipment dealer expressed interest in their land but ended
up buying on the east end of Town, 2 piece of inexpensive property that had been for sale for
quite & while. Aswell, a large truck stop and movie theatrs enterprise showed J'ni_:n:st in those
lands being the Leo Virbes referred to in Exhibit Number 6. Thal failed as a result the financial

backers of same backing out,

Mr. Armitage testified that in July of 1998 the Town suggested, in writing, that
if the Leo Virbes transaction was signed with Mr. Armitage, the Town would take over
management of servicing to the Armitage property and Armitage would pay them back, Exhibit

Mumber 13 was entered in respect of zame,

.

Mr. Armitage presented Exhibit Number 10 as evidence of ongoing development

discussions with the Town for Mr. Armitages’ property on the west side of the Town and south

: of Highway 18. Mr, Armitage stated he left his preferred option and access applications in
—respecl armmwmmwrmmﬂw}n and nothing has been hieard from the Town by Mr.
Armitage on this since February zuoo.' Mr. Armitage testifies that development in the west end

of the Town is in the direction of the Municipal Development Plan, would bring more business

into the west end of Town, bring more traffic into the west end of Town and rebalance out the

area.

Mr. Armitage suspects that if the Town development of the Lands proceeds that
Mr. Armitage would not be shle to develop his lands, would not be able to compete with the

Town and would be out of business.

In cross examination by Mr, Moroz, Mr. Armitage testified that he is currently

working with a large manufacruring system, international capacity regarding the Armitage

property.
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‘Mr. Armitage testified that competing against the Town is not a level playing field

and an unfair advantage for the Town,

The Owner's next witness is James Peter Seward. He was sworn by the reporter.

Mr. Seward is a realior with Muller Really in Westlock. He has held this position for six years.
he has not sold any commercial real estate but his office does. Prior to becoming a realtor he

was a teacher for thirty years in Westlock.

Mr. Seward identified on Exhibit Number 7, numerous commercial properties
which are currently for sale or which recently have been for sale of 2 commercial and industrial

nature. His evidence identified numerous commercial properties available,

On cross examination he stated that some of those properiies have structures on

them and all are owned privately.

The Owner's next witness is Kim MacKenzie, He was sworn by the re[..)omr,
Mr. MacKenzie's qualifications were accepted by the Town's legal counsel and the Inguiry

Officer to provide expert opinion evidence as a professional urban planning consultant,

Mr. MacKenzie testified that be was retained to examine the land use planning
context for the Lands that are proposed for expropriation and to determine whether the purpose
of the taking was consistent with the land use planning environment of the Town of Westlock

or the Jand use planning regime,
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Mr. MacKenzie has viewed the Lands and Mr, Marks™ agriculiural operation as
a use of the Lands. He has also viewed the industrial area of the Town and has toured the
Town. He has also reviewed the Municipal Development Plan entered as Exhibit Number 8 and

the Town's land use bylaw.

Mr. MacKenzie's view is thal there is a substantinl amount of available arza of
undeveloped land in the west part of the Town which is indicated as future industrial land use
by the Municipal Development Plan entered as Exhibit Number 8,

Those westerly lands are identified in that Municipal Development Plan as Stage

1 development areas.

He also identifies some confusion between Map 3.1 in the Municipal Development

Plan and Exhibit Number 7 regarding residential development. |

He refers to specific policies at puges 4, 6 and 10 of the Municipal Development
Plan, He also-reviewed the Westlock County Municipal Development Plan and comments that
this plan recognizes that the Town of Westlock may have (o expand its boundaries, He notes
that both the Tewn Land Use Bylaw and Westlock County Land Use Bylaw attempt to control

urban development around the town from a policy perspective.

Mr. MacKenzie confirmed that his engagement did not undertake an empirical
analysis of the quantity of lands available for either commercial or industrial use. Based on his
experience with other communities and driving this community, he states that a significant
amount of land is available for future industrial use. This includes large areas within the Town
boundaries designated for future industrial use and a significant aumber of commercial buildings
in the central arca and some along the major arlerial roadways or highways that \ransect the

Town,
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His basic impression is:that there is a very significant supply of land available in

the Town now for both commercial use and industrial use.

. Mr. MacKenzie testified that the proposed taking violates the stated objective of
rhr.; Municipal Development Plan of expanding the existing industrial area in the western part of
the Town. In al_:ldilion he states that the proposed taking does not conform with the staging
pricrity in the Municipal Development Plan which articulates that the west area should develop

first.

It is Mr. MacKenzie's opinion that a private developer might well have to apply
to amend a Municipal Development Plan such as Exhibit Number & if it wishes 1o propose &
development like that proposed for the Lands by virtue of the Notice of Intention to Expropriate,

Mr. MacKenzie indicated that certain reasons make sense for the Town to focus
on Industrial growth on the west side +;I‘ Town including, major trunk utility services arc already
located in the west part of Town, focus industrial traffic and minimize impacts on the rest of
Town, minimize traffic between disjointed commercial and industrial sites (traffic, noise,

pollution, visual impacts, waste) and minimize exposure (o same to residential sreas.

Mr. MacKenzie's opinicn is that the proposed taking is not sound because it
violates or departs from several staled policies enacted by bylaw in the Town's Municipal

Development Plan including:

1. expansion of industrial development in the west end of Town;

2. Town’s requirement for service roads along arterial roads may nol be complied

with in the proposed taking's proposed commercial use;
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3 the proposed taking's proposed indusirial use area appears to conflict with the
Municipal Development Plan designation of a significant residential use area in |

part af the Lands; ) |

4, the proposed teking and development of commercial and/or industrial uses of the
Lands contradicts the staled staging priority for development In the Municipal

Development Plan.

It is Mr. MacKenzie's opinion that the proposed taking is not reasonably necessary
to achieve the town's objectives because the Town possesses several altermatives which are

available to meet commercial and industrial growth needs.

In cross examination by Mr, Moroz, Mr. MacKenzie was referred to section 637

of the Municipal Government Act of Alberta and stated that thiz section does not mean that "the

~municipality does not have 1o follow its own Municipal Development Plan",

Mr. MacKenzie suggests that if a municipality wants anybody ¢lse to respect their
Municipal Development Plan and give it meaning and purpose, it should be the first panty to
follaw their Municipal Development Plan,

III. ARGUMENTS ADVANCED ON BEHALF OF THE PARTIES
Mr. Maroz, in his summation, argued that:

i. The objective of the Town is to develop a commercial industrial park on the
northerly 80 acres of North East Quarter of Section Thirty-Three, Township Fifty
Mine, Range Twenty Six, West of the Fourth Meridian.
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Z The Town's evidence is that large parcels are required on Highway 18 east of
Highway 44 where the highest traffic counts are.
3, . The intended use does not have to be an immediate use but can be a fufure use,
4, The Town has made a political decision ta develop the subject Lands rather than

proceed along the western portion of Town.
5, The only issues raised by Mr. Marks are compensation issues.
6. The objective of the Town is not a subject for debate by the Inguiry Officer.

7. The proposed taking is fair, sound and reasonsbly necessary to achieve the

Town’s objective,
Mr. Mallon, in his summation, argued that:

1. The proposed taking is not fair sound and reasonably necessary. The test is set
oul in section 15(8) of the Expropriation Act. Rules of legislative drafting
presume that legislation avoids superfluous and meaningless words. Every word
is presumed to make sense and have a specific role to play. The test the Town
must satisfy is whether the taking is fair, the taking is sound and the taking is
reasonably necessary for the Town to achieve its objectives, The Inquiry Officer
should not be weakening the test or rying o pacaphrase it, but should be locking
at the test for what it is.
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2. Expropriation legislation should be interpreted broadly in favour of the land
owner and strictly with respect to the powers of expropriation and the procedures

for expropriation.  °. i

i The Town argues that its objective is to develop an industrial and commercial
park in this particular quarter section. The Notice of Intention to Expropriate in
paragraph 3 says the work or purpose for which the interest in the lands is
required is for the development of an indusrial - commercial park. The question
for the Inquiry Officer is whether it is fair, sound and reasonably necessary for
such CIIJJcr.Ii'll'l: to oceur on this property or to the extent the Town has planned for

this property.

4, The St. Mary River [rrigation Case states at page 138 "the hearing i therefore
essentially concerned with the factual information surrounding the proposed

land for such purpase,” This should be considered by the Inguiry Officer.

3 The Municipal Development Plan states thc'w:slcdy industrial properties are
slated for development first. That Plan was incorporated by Town By-law after
a two year evaluation and public input in 1998 and within six months of its

creation the Town was pursuing the Lands in contravention of same,

6. The negotiations betwesn Mr. Bancroft and Mr. Marks did not go past the barest
details, They did not talk about pricing, plans or impact on Mr. Marks’

operation.
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< Mr. Bancroft's evidence is that the decision to change was politics, The
Municipal Govermment Act does not provide that a municipal purpose for which

an expropriation can take place is politics.

8. The John Decre dealership in the Town of Westlock approached Mr, Bancroft and
said they would like & portion of the Lands” The Town under the guise of
municipal purgn;osc has atlempled to satisfy this request and in so doing is looking
to advantage the John Desre dealership for its choice of land while disadvantaging
Mr. Marks. Mr. Mallon states that exhibits @ and 13 bolster this conclusion as
examples of- speeding up development of the Lands contrary o the Municipal
Development Plan and slowing the pace of development of lands considered as

4 higher priority in the Municipal Development Plan.

9, Mr. Marks' airsteip and dugout would be impacted by the taking. The taking in
Mr, Marks’ view is from the heart of his operation and ths impacts ace significant

on him.

10, Exhibit Mumber 8 is misleading and the evidence shows that there is not such
demand for such property. We must note there are ne 2001 inquiries, one in
2000 and one in 19§9 'only. The Owner's evidence through Mr. Seward, Mr.
Armitage and Mr. MacKenzie shows there is & lot of commercial propery
available for sale and available for development. In respect of Industrial
property, the Armitage lands represent a large tract of land as well as land north

of the current Industrial Park available for development.

11.  Mr. MacKenzie's evidence is the taking is not sound for the reasons stated,
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12.  When you examine whether the ﬁking is fair, sound and reasonably necessary,
the issue of fairness must balance the needs of the community against the impact
on the Owner. Fairness to other members of the community as well as Mr.

. Marks must be taken into account, The needs of the community do not require
the Lands to be expropriated. It is not fair to vse & different standard for

development by the Town than for another owner in Town.

13.  The taking is not sound because it violates the Municipal Development Plan, the
proposed commercial use may not conform to the service road requirements [;f
the Muuitipél Development Plan, it creates a conflict between residential use-s in
the future and the proposed industrial park and contravenes the proposed staging
set forth in the Municipal Develepment Plan.

14. It is not reasonably necessiry to develop an industrial and commercial park or
= A ——— ~industrial and commercial [ands on the Marks' Lands, There is considerable land
available in this town for those purposes.

IV, ARGUMENTS ADVANCED ON COSTS
On the question of costs,

Mr. Mallon and Mr. Moroz each state that The Expropriarion Acf is clear that the

Owner is entitled to their reasonable costs,
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V. ! DI FACT
I FIND THAT:

1. The Town has satisfied all of the requirements of The Expropriarion Act and
taken all the necessary sleps to initiate this Inquiry Hearing as required by The
* Exproprigtion Act and the Regulations under it.

2. The Town has passed the necessary resoluthon authorizing the filing of a Motice

of Intention to Expropriate.

3. The Town proposes to develop a commercial industrial park on the Lands, The
Notice of Intention to Expropriale either expressly or impliedly proposes the use
of the Lands for the intended expropriation by the Town,

4. There have been minimal negotiations between the Town and Owner to acquire
the Land from the Owner for the proposed purpose.

5. The current Town Industrial park is full,
&, There is some demand for new commereial industrial lands in the Town,
7. There is commercial resale property and {ndustrial developable property in the

Town of Westlock without developing the Lands. Those other lands are all

privately owned and the Town does not control any such lands,
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g The highway and road traffic count information supports that there is more traffic
east of Highway 44 on Highway 18 than west of Highway 44 on Highway 18 but
the details of the type of traffic and its orientation is not determinable.

9. The Municipal Development Plan includes the Lands in its considerations for

future development of non residential commercial property.

10. - The Town negotisted with respect 1o the Lands at the same time a3 it negotiated
with anather owner on the west side of the Town of Westlock in February, 2000,

11 The proposed development of the Lands is generally included in the Town's
Municipal Development Plan albeit not as a stage one activity.

12, The time required to fill a sizeable commercial industrial park in the Town is

significant, taking several years,

13,  The Town has not bound itself to any particular proposal for development of the
Jack Armitage et al lands as their most recent proposal was conditional on at |east
one development having been finglized and wnder construction. Thal has not
occurred,  Numerpus periodic and current enquiries for development of that
Armitage et al property ﬁx.':st. Any failures of such enguirics have been as 2

result of circumstances beyond those owners or the Town's control,

14, The Town's Municipal Development Plan is an exiensive document containing

guidelines and a roadmap for organized municipal development.

15,  The proposed taking will have an impact on the Owners” farming and cattle
raising operations and other business interests. In particular, the use of the
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airstrip and water dugoul will be significantly negatively impacted and will have
a rippling effect on the aspects of the Owner's business on lands adjacent to the

Lands.

16.  The Town has made & pn]it.béal decision (o proceed with development of the
Lands in a fashion outside of the specific terms of reference of the Municipal

Development Plan,

VI OPINION AND REASONS

The question before me for determination is whether the intended expropriation
by the Town is fair, sound and reascnably necessary in the achievement of the objective of the
Expropriating Authority, the Town. This is the only finding or determination that [ can make
under The E:prquria_n'on Act. 1 am obliged to conduct this Inguiry Hearing and prepare my

report in accordance with The Expropriation Act.

In this case, the objective of the Town is not as clear and unequivocal as one
might find in another factual circumstance, The Owner argues that the objective is to develop
2 commercial industrial park but not necessarily on the Lands and impliedly in accordance with

the strict reading of the Municipal Development Plan. The Town argues that this objective is

specific to the Lands.

1 concur with Inquiry Officer McLennan in his unreported May 16, 2001 Inguiry
Officer Report in the Municipal District of Spirit River No. 133 v. Ben and June Kurys and
Larry and Marguerite Bradley that

“It is not within the Inquiry Officer’s scope of Inquiry to challenge the objectives
of the expropriating authority. That is, once the expropriating authority has
decided that they wish to make cerlain improvements, thal matler is not 2 subject
for debate before, and decision by, the Inquiry Officer”.
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I have paid careful attention to the Owner's argument that the Town's objective is limited to the
general propasition of developing &n industrial commercial park and not specifically connected
to the Lands. [ have made 4 finding of fact that the Notice of Intention to Expropriate either
expressly or.impliedly proposes the use of the Lands for the intended expmpriﬂtion by the Town.
The Town's Municipal Development Plan includes the Lands in its consideration of lands for
future expansion. It also authorizes the Town to bank industrial land and service it for resals.
This necessarily implies that the Town may take such steps for current and future purposes,

In consideration of the evidence and the interplay between the actions of the Town
and the Municipal D-:vclap;mcm Plan, I am compelled to accept that the objective of the Town
is not limited to the Owner's position as stated above, but does include the specific use of the
Lands, Accordingly, I do accept that the Town's objective in respect of this matier is the
development of these Lands for an industrial commercial park. Having concluded this being the
objective T must turn to the test [ must apply to these procesdings as proposed in argument by

: counsel for the parties.

I accept that the test sﬂ. forth in section 15(8) of the Expropriafion Act of Alberia
is not one capable of being reduced to a paraphrased statement. In my view, it does require an
application of the specific components of the test to the evidence and findings of fact. In certain
factual circumsiances it is conceivable that each of those statutory components may have a

greater or lesser importance dependent upon the evidence and facls before the Inguiry Officer.

It is not my job o enquire into whether the Owner or other interested land owners
think the expropriation is fair. I am obliged to sit objectively, providing my objective opinion
whether the Town is acting fairly and soundly in meeting their objectives. I is not an acceptable
reason in and of itself that a real estale owner or business owner or other party with an interest
in real estate as defined in the Expropriation Act is injuriously affected by an expropriation to
conclude that such an expropriation is not fair, sound and reasonably necessary to achieve the
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objectives of the expropriating authority, Whereas some expropriations may have no real
negative impact on an owner, il is very often the case that an owner such as the Owner in these
proceedings is at least inconvenienced if not seriously affected by such expropriation.
Expropriating authorities are faced with this consideration on a regular basis and must make
decisions to go forward notwithstanding some negative impacts such decisions might have or

change their minds and not proceed,

The Municipal Gavernmen! Act of Alberia provides the Town with legislative
authority to expropriate an e#mtc or interest in land pursuant to the provisions of the
Expropriation Act qf.-'lfben-a. The intent of the Town's Municipal Development Plan and their
Maotice of Intention (o0 Expropriale are in accord with the Municipal Government Act of Alberta
provisions. The Town's Municipal Development Plan does not eliminate the Lands from future
development considerations. It rather expressly includes those Lands for future dweluﬁrnem.
The opposition to such proposed development of the Lands is really one of timing. The
Municipal Development Plan of the Town provides that the development of the Lands should
be later than other lands referenced in that Plan. Opposition by other land owners in the Taown
of Westiock includes that of timing and that of unfair advantage. I am not convinced that such
unfair advantage will materialize from the development of the Lands proposed by the Town.

I am unimpressed apd disappointed in the lack of communication and limited
negotiation by the Town for the acquisition or other development models with respect to the
Lands. This is a serious undertaking by the Town with potentially serious effects on the Owner,
What has occurred is barely negotiations. Notwithstanding same, I cannot conclude that such
actions were wEm- dishonesty or malice in mind. I do not find anything sinister in the fact that
the Town was negotiating with two owners in February, 2000 as referred to in my findings of
fact. I accept that the Town is aliempting to generate better and more business for the Town

and its members. It is logical that all avenues of development would be considered.
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While it is clear that an impact will occur on the Owner e;s to his business
operations and to the Town in respect of traffic and other aspects raised in these proceedings as
a result of the intended Expropriation, T keep coming back to this being a matter of a timing
issue and the fact thal development of the Lands is part of the long range plan for the Town. 1
The south haif of Section thirty three, Township fifty nine, Range twenty six, west of the fourth {
meridian is shadowed in the Municipal Development Plan of the Town for long term expansion .
and annexation as well, This clearly shows an intention to utilize three quarlers of the Owner's

land in that section in the furure,

As the Owner has provided evidence of the inlet to the dugouts on the land being
from the south and west, it is my view that such water facilities are mechanically moveable at
a cost that can be considered in a compensation consideration. The same Is true of the
underground water line and pawer line. Other passibilities for handling the water and elecirical
_ lines such as easements may be available in respect of same. [ believe the usefulness of the
T 7 alrstrlp may be st'gn'tﬁcanlty lost should the proposed axpropriat}nn proceed, [ am not satisfied

that this will have & negative impact on the business thal alrstrip supporis.

While evidence from the Town expresses the decision to move on the
expropriation of the Lands as being a political decision, the entire body of evidence in these
proceedings implics to me a more complicated rationale for that decision being made which
satisfies me that the authorizing legislation in the Province of Alberta has been complied with

in proceeding with this intended expropriation by the Town.

The evidence of the objectors point out specific variances from the Town's
Municipal Development Plan in respect of the intended development of the Lands, That Flan
is expressed as a long term ideal. As was expressed in the Inquiry Hearing, such Plans go
through an evolutionary phase. One Plan evolves into another over time, It is my opinion that
the Town's proposed development of the Lands is not contrary to the Town's Municipal
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Development Plan, but rather is in general sccordance with the Flan, but for the timing of same,
and a further step in the evolution of same, The Town is not restricted to that Plan by chapter

and verse.

Having regard to all the evidence presented, the intentions of the Town, the
impact on the Owner and other owners of real estate in the Town of Westlock, I find that the
intended expropriation of the Macks Lands is fair, sound and ressonably necessary in the
achievement of the objective of the expropriating authority, the Town of Westlock, to develop
an industrial-commercial park on the Lands, [ reiterats that I am not impressed with the lack

of communication and meagre negotiations but this does not compel me to reverse or restate my

opinion stated above,

Pursuant to section 15(10) of the Expraopriation Acr, the reasonable costs of the

Owner in respect of these proceedings shall be paid by the Town.

DATED at the City of Edmonton, in the Province of Alberta, this 28th day of
June, 2001,

Rex M, Mielsen, Esq.
Inquiry Officer

1700 Oxford Tower
10235 - 101 Street
Edmonton, Alberta

T5J 3Gl
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IN THE MATTER OF the Expropriation Act, being Chapter E-13 of the Revised Statutes
of Alberta, 2004, and amendments thereto (“Act™);

AND IN THE MATTER OF the intended expropriation by the Minister of Infrastructure
of a fee simple interest in those lands deseribed as:

All that portion of the South West (SW 1/4) Quarter of Section Ten (10,
Township Seventy (70), Range Seventeen (17), West of the Fourth (4%)
Meridian, standing under Certificate of Title 032150009+3 and shown
hatched on the sketch plan attached to and forming part of this document
containing 1.68 Hectares (4.2 Acres), more or less

Excepting thereout all mines and munerals (the *Lands™};

AND [N THE MATTER OF the Netice of Objection to the said intended expropriation
filed by Leslie Howard Johnson by his solicitor, Chelsea Tkachuk;

AND [N THE MATTER OF an Inquiry in respect thereof pursuant to the provisions of
the said Acr by Graham McLennan as Inguiry Officer appointed by Clara Cerminara,
Barrister and Selicitors, to conduct the said Inguiry;

REFPORT OF THE INQUIRY OFFICER

GRAHAM McLENNAN, Q.C.
November 4, 2011

COUNSEL
Mr. John-Marc Dube Ms. Chelsea Tkachuk
Counsel for the Minister of Infrastructure Counsel for Leslie Howard Johnson
Alberta Justice Nicholl & Akers
Civil Law Branch 200, 10187 ~ 104 Street
gt Floor, Peace Hills Trust Tower Edmonton AB TS5J 029

10011 — 109 Street
Edmenton AB TSK 358

|
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INTRODUCTION

The Expropriation Inquiry was held on Monday, October 31, 2011, at the Lac La
Biche Provincial Building, 1" Floor, 9503 Beaverhill Road, Lac La Biche, Alberta. The
expropriating authority, the Minister of Infrastructure (“Expropriating Authority™), was
represented by Mr. John-Marc Dube of Alberta Justice, Civil Law. The Objector, Leslie Howard
Johnson (the *“Ohjector’), was represented by Ms. Chelsea Tkachuk of Edmonton, Alberta,

This Inguiry concemns the intended cxpropriation of a portion of the Objector's
lands for the construction, development, and maintenance of highway (public road). Counsel for
the Expropriating Authority and counsel for the Objector agreed thar all appoinuments, notices,

filings and registrations with respect to the intended expropriation, the objection and this Inquiry
have been properly performed.

Evidence was given under oath.
SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE
Exhibits

All exhibits entered in evidence were entered without objection from counsel. A
list of the exhibits is attached to this report as Appendix 1.

All of the exhibits are attached o the Inquiry Officer™s Repont provided to the
Expropriating Authority. With the consent of all parties, the exhibits are not attached to copies
of this Report provided to the Objectors.

EVIDENCE OF THE EXPROPRIATING AUTHORITY

Mr. Landon Reppert

Mr. Reppert advised that he was a professional engineer having received his
degree in 1996, He has been working with Alberta Transportation since 2005. His prior
experience was seven years with an engineering consultant firm. Mr. Reppent’s title is presently
Acting Regional Director, Fort MeMuray Region, with Alberta Transportation.

HEVW s | B3 300 1 1934, D0
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Mr. Reppert advised that the Crown is secking to expropriste a section of
Mr. Johnson's land as part of a project for upgrading Highway 63, initially to expressway status
and ultimately to freeway status, from the junction of Highway 53 to Fort McMurray (the
“Project™).

Mr, Reppert testified that some of the work has been done for the Project as the
section of Highway 63 down to Highway 8281 is open to traffic and construction is proceeding on
other sections. He advised that phase 1 of the Project, the upgrade 1o expressway status, involves
twinning the highway and the use of existing township roads, approximately every two miles, for
access to Highway 63, When phase 2, freeway status is obtained, access will be further
restricted fo interchanges only, approximately every ten miles or sixteen kilometers. This
requires service roads to be constructed to parallel Highway 63 o allow sccess 1o the planned

interchanges.

Mr. Reppert advised that the twinning of Highway 63 to achieve expressway and,

ultimately, freeway status is required becavse:
{a}  Traffic volumes on Highway 63 to Fort McMurray are increasing.
(b} Large, heavy industrial leads travel this road.

{c) The upgrading of Highway 63 will increase safety especially in light of the larger
loads and increased tralfic volume.

Mr. Reppert identified the Functional Planning Study Final Report completed by
Castle Glen Consultants for Alberta Transportation, at Exhibit 1, Tab | (*Functional Plan™).
Further, the Functional Plan identifies the alignments required for twinning sections of
Highway 63 as well as identifying service roads required for the interim stape and service roads
required for the final upgrading of Highway 63 to freeway status {when connection 15 only via
interchange).

Mr. Reppert advised that, in preparation of the Functional Plan, the consultant

conducied open houses, technical review committee mectings, and discussions with the local

HWdacsi | 1 3335000 1 1054 D00
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municipality, He advised that at the open houses, all of the members of the public are nvited to
come and review plans and options that are being prepared and considered.

Mr. Reppert advised that the Functional Plan would be the basic guide for Alberta
Transportation in the development of the Project.

The Functional Plan covers about 70 kilometers of Highway 63. However,
detailed work dome by the engineering consultants for the design of specific sections typically

cover 15 to 30 kilometers at a time.

Mr. Reppert testified that the Expropriating Authority intends o expropriate a
section of Mr. Johnson's land for the purpose of construction of a service road for the Project.
The service road is roquired, at the cxpressway status stage, to provide legal access for
landowners. The proposed service road that parallels Highway 63 is designed to provide access
for both Mr. Johnson and his neighbour, Mr. Cochrane. Mr. Reppert identified Exhibit 1, Tab 2,
a plan which shows ownership of land and has superimposed a design of the Project and the
proposed areas of expropriation marked in red.

Mr. Reppent advised that the Crown is responsible for the construction of the
service road. Once it is constructed, the service road is surveyed and transferred to the local
municipality, in this case the County of Athabasca.

Mr. Reppert advised that, typically, service roads parallel the highway. By
paralleling the highway, service roads penerally are the shortest distance possible. This keeps
construction costs and maintenance costs o a minimum. [n addition, it is beneficial to avoid
having service roads crossing pipelines or wiility comridors, Typically, the cost of construction
over utility corridors or pipelines is higher than not having o cross pipelines or wility corridors
with roadways.

Mr. Reppert addressed a concern raised by the Objector that a service road
adjacent to Highway 63 could create a hazard to motorists who may think it is a third lane of
Highway 63. Mr. Reppert opined that he would not think that motorists would conclude that this
was a third lane of Highway 63, Highway 63 would be paved and the service road would be

HivWdocs\ | 1 33330021 1954, D0OC
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gravel. Further, there will be a depressed median or a ditch seeded with grass between the
highway and the service road.

Mr, Reppent advised that Alberta Transporiation’s plans are to proceed with the
twinning of Highway 63 in the near future, Once all of the land has been acquired, approvals are
in place for roads, utilities, permits and any other regulatory approvals, Alberta Transportation
would proceed with construction.

Mr. Reppert referred to a letter he authored dated March 10, 2010, found at
Exhibit 2, Tab 12. He advised that this letter addressed concerns that he understood were raised
by the Objector. One of the concemns addressed the suggestion that the service road could be
moved to the west side of Mr. Johnson’s property and then run parallel to Highway 63 coming to
either a dead end or turn back m an eastward direction to connect with Highway 63, Mr. Keppert
addressed this suggestion in his March 10, 2010, letter and noted:

(a) Alberta Transportation generally constructs service roads adjacent and parallel to
the highway. Further, location of service roads is designed to limit the number of
direct access points to the highway.

)] Building the service road farther west would increase the length of the road and
thereby increase the cost of construction. He advised the typical cost to build a
service road would be in the neighbourhood of $200,000 tw $230,000 for each
half a mile.

{c)  There are additional costs associated with crossing utility commidors/pipelines.
One would need o obtain agreements from all of the utility companies and
address issues that are involved when roadways cross utilities/pipelines.

(d)  The adjacent and parallel service road proposed by Alberta Transportation would
provide a shorter travel distance for farm equipment.

{e)  The shorter service road, as proposed by Alberta Transportation, would reduce the
costs of snow removal and maintenance of the gravel service road by the local

municipality.

H:Wdocl TI330002 1 1954, D0C
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(fy If Mr, Johnson's proposed service read location was adopted, and it came to a
dead end, then additional expenses wouold be incurred in creating an access to the
south of Mr. Johnson's property. This would also add another access point Lo
Highway 63, which generally is to be avoided.

Mr. Reppert addressed another option that had been suggested: namely, the
comstruction of a right in, right out access from Mr, Johnson's property. Mr. Reppert advised
that such an access is generally not desirable. It does not provide all directional access. If you
warnited to ravel in a northerly direction, you would have to tum on to Highway 63 travelling
south, do a u-tum at some point and head in the other direction. Such traffic flow and u-tumns are
not desirable in the design of highways.

In reference to Exhibit 1, Tab 2, at page 1, Mr. Reppert identified that there was a
gap in the two areas coloured red which the Crown seeks to have expropriated. Mr. Reppert
advised that that this portion of land has already been subdivided. Further, that as part of the
subdivision approval, land was dedicated to the Crown for the future construction of a service
road, Therefore, this area berween the two red-shaded areas is already owned by the Crown and
can be used without any further compensation, for the construction of a service road.

Cross-Examination of Mr. Reppert

Ms, Tkachuk asked Mr. Reppert to review his letter found at Exhibit 2, Tab 12,
dated March 10, 2010, The first concern noted in the letter appeared to be safety. Ms., Tkachuk
asked how moving the service road one mile to the west would impact safety, as there would be
the same number of access points to Highway 63, Mr. Reppert responded that constructing the
service road to the west would not result in any additional access points, but the service road
would be longer. Further, Mr. Reppert noted that the length of the service road would make it
less efficient for motorists because it would 1ake longer to travel down a service road to the west,
as proposed by Mr. Johnson. As well, Mr. Reppert noted there would be cost implications for

constrzction and maintenance of a service road located to the west.

Ms. Tkachuk asked how much longer it would take to travel on a service road
constructed to the west, and Mr. Reppert responded that it would be approximately 30 seconds to

HAWdocsh ] 13330002 11954 DOC
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a minute longer. Mr. Reppert noted that there would be an additional half mile of construction,
and the service road would then turn back to the east, which would include crossing of a utility
corridor.  Thus, there would be additional costs of construction crossing the utility corridor and
approximately double the mamntenance costs.

Ms. Tkachuk asked Mr. Reppert to identify what safety concermms he had.
M. Reppert noied that the service road would have 90-degree turns, rather than flowing in a
straight line, There would also be additional intersection peints which may decrease the safety
of the service road. Mr. Reppert agreed that appropriate signage and other steps could be taken
to construet a safe and efficient service road in the location proposed by Mr, Johnson, although it
would not be as efficient or economical as the service road proposed by the Expropriating
Authority,

Mz, Tkachuk asked Mr. Reppert about the costs of construction to build a service
road in the location proposed by Mr. Johnson. Mr. Reppert replied that he does not have specific
costing, just his general understanding that it would be approximately $250,000 in additional
construction costs, plus costs for construction of the roadway over the utility comidor. Costs
related to constructing the roadway over top of a urility corridor could range from $200,000-
$700,000 per wility, for a total in this case of approximately $1.5 million. Mr. Reppert was
asked why a specific cost estimate had not been done for Mr. Johnson's proposed route,
Mr. Reppert replied that Alberta Transportation was comfortable that they knew from experience
what the range of costs of construction were for a service road, and for the crossing of utilitics
with roadways, and this information was sufficient (o address Mr, Johnson's propesed route, '

Mr. Reppert advised that Alberta Transportation had not contacted the wtility
companies to specifically determine what their position would be with respect to any crossings
required, if Mr. Johnson's proposed location for the service road was adopted.

Ms, Tkachuk then asked Mr, Reppert about the position of Albena Transportation
that Mr. Johnson's proposal would adversely impact farming operations. Mr. Reppert advised
that the impact would be the additional distance that farming equipment would need to travel
based on a longer service road. Mr. Reppert agreed that there were trees on the northern portion
of the proposed expropriation, which is coloured in red on Exhibit 1, Tab 2, at page 1, He agreed

HeWdocst] LIT3N00T11954. D00
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the majority of these lands were treed. Ms. Tkachuk asked if those trees were removed and a
service road constructed, would not the land be exposed to wind and traffic which could
negatively impact farming operations. Mr. Reppert advised that he was not an expert in the field
of farming and was unable to state whether the removal of trees would impact Mr. Johnson's

farming operations.

Ms. Tkachuk asked whether there had been any specific investigations done with
respect to how much more money it would cost for snow removal or mainienance of an extra
mile of service road. Mr. Reppen did not have specific dollar estimates. He simply noted that
whatever the costs were, they would be 50% higher if the service moad route proposed by
Mr. Johnson was constructed. Mr. Reppert was unable to comment on what percentage of the
local mumicipality’s budget for road mainienance and snow removal this exira 50% may

represent.

Mr. Reppert was asked to describe what type of repair would be involved with the
gravel service roads, He replied that the local authority would perform blading of the service
road, periodically perform “shoulder pull” and periodically apply additional gravel. He also
suggested there would be mowing of grass on the service road right-of-way, Mr. Repperi was
unable to provide a per umit cost of maintenance services such as these performed by the local
authority.

Mr. Reppert agreed that over the 70-km. section of the Project, there are presently
200 direct accesses to Highway 63, He advised that it was the intention of Alberia
Transportation, in bringing Highway 63 to expressway status, (o remove all existing direct
secesses except for connections made to the adjoining local County road network. Further, with
respect o negotiations with other landowners involving access, Mr. Reppert is not aware of any
negotiations that have permitted the landowners to continue to have direct highway access.

Mr. Reppert agreed that it was possible 1o develop and maintain Highway &3 as
contermnplated without building a service road as proposed on the Johnson lands. However, this
would require a connection to Highway 63 being built from the south, which would require (he
purchase of the Haley residence,

HAW o ] | 333002 1155 DOC
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Mr, Reppert stated that the purchase of the Haley residence will be required, if the
residence exists when Alberta Transportation constructs Highway 63 to a freeway status and the
service road needs to connect through those lands. Further, he indicated that the freeway status
will he achieved for Highway 63 some time in the future, which may be 20 or 30 years from

THIW.

Mr. Reppen agreed with Ms. Tkachuk that it is fair to state that a continuous
service road nunning through Haley's lands, the Cochrane lands and Mr. Johnson's lands will not
happen for 20 to 30 years.

Mr. Reppert indicated that he was not aware of any concessions made to other
landowners near Mr. Johnson with respect o access or proposed service roads. Howcever,
ir. Reppert did clarily that the owner ol the northeusst 34-60-17, west of the fourth meridian, did
negotiate a change in location of a proposed service road. However, this landowner (the
property being identified on the first 2 pages at Tab 3 of Exhibit 1) had the proposed service road
going through the middle of a gravel stockpile and adjacent to a Telus right-of-way that included
a Telus tower site. Accordingly, there were adjusiments to the service road to take these

conditions into account,

Ms. Tkachuk noted in the Functional Plan, paragraph 9.114 {mt Tab | of
Exhibit 1), there was a discussion about maintaining natural habitat. She asked Mr. Reppert
whether there is consideration to maintaining natural habitat where possible, Mr, Reppert replied
that the process is to inventory fish and fish habitat as part of an ongoing federal environmental
impact assessment. Further, a detailed environmental impact assessment considers water courses
and general impact on the environment with an eye to considering what can be done 1o minimize
impacts on the environment. Ms. Tkachuk asked whether Mr. Reppert would agree that removal
of the trees on Mr. Johnson's lands would impact the environment. He replied that he does not
believe that removal of a strip of trees is an impact to the environment. Generally, with respect
to tree removals, he advised that requirements of the Migratory Bird Act must be complied with
o ensure there is no distarbance to nesting birds. He agreed that there could be species, other
than nesting birds, living in the trees on Mr. Johnson's property. Further, the removal of those
trees might impact the habitat of specics that might be living there. Mr. Reppert noted that
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Mr. Johnson's proposed route appears as though it would resull in the removal of a significant]y
larger treed area and may have significantly more impact on wildlife and the environment than
the route proposed by Alberta Transportation and their consultants, He further noted that
Mr. Johnson's proposed route would have the service road constructed through bush, creating the

polential for additional animal-vehicle collisions.

Re-examination of Mr. Reppert

Mr. Reppent was ssked 1o clarify that the Haley residence is south of
Mr, Johnson's property.  Further, the first guarter to the south of the Johnson lands is the
Cochrane property, then the next quarier to the south is the Haley property. Mr. Reppent further
clarified that the Haley residence is located right where the proposed right-of-way for the service
rond would be constructed, To construct the service road to the notth along the parallel
alignment would require the acquisition and removal of the Haley residence.

Mr. Reppert confirmed to Mr. Dube that he was not a biologist or an
environmental engineer or anything like that. Funher, there was an environmental assessment
done, or ot least considered by those who prepared the Functional Plan, and there were no
concerns raised about the trees on the proposed right-of-way for the service road on Mr.

Johnson's property in that environmental assessment, as far as he s aware,

Mr. Alan Griffith

Mr. Griffith advised that he is a professional engineer working with Genivar. He
graduated from the University of Alberta with an engineering degree in 1976, He worked for
Alberta Transportation between 1977 and 2009, primarily engaged in supervising highway
construction projects and administering highway districts or construction in highway regions.
M, Griffith has been working with Genivar since 2010. His present title is Senior Engineer.

Mr. Griffith advised that Genivar was retained to provide design and construction
consuling services on the [irst 34 kilometres of Highway 63 nonth of the junction with
Highway 55, Mr. Griffith advised that there was a Functional Plan completed several years apo
and that Genivar was employed to complete detailed design for this portion of the Project. The
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detailed design was prepared for tender and eventual construction of this stage of the Project.
Genivar looks at the individual properties as pant of their assignment to take the Project from the

Functional Plan stage to an actual detailed plan to the as-built roadway.

Mr. Griffith identified the aeral photographs and superimposed detailed road plan
which is found at Tab 2 of Exhibit 1. Genivar, in fact, prepared this plan, which amongst other
things identifies the nght-of-ways that need to be acquired for the construction of the Highway
63 Project, which includes the accompanying service roads, These detailed plans are referred to
as the individual ownership plan, or [OP.

With respect 1o Mr. Johnson™s TOP found at Tab 2 of Exhibit 1, Mr. Griffith noted
that it identifies an existing service road dedication, and the designed service road takes this
roadway dedication imo account.  Mr. Griffith advised that design standards for service roads
include a 30-m, right-of-way with typically an 8- or @-metre graded wp, Further, they are built
to a local road standard in conjunction with standards required within the County of Athabasca,
Mr. Griffith identified at page 35 of Tab 1, Exhibit 1, the design grid for the proposed service
roads.

Mr. Griffith was asked to comment on the route for the service road proposed by
Mr. Johnson. He advised that such a read could, physically, be built. However, this would
involve the road crossing pipeline right-of-ways, This would involve investigation of things
such as protective cover over any such pipelines or depth of cover underneath public roadways.
This would need to be identified and determined whether it would be sufficient for development
of a service road. Further, depth of cover is considered the minimmum amount of earth that would
be required above a pipeline. He advised that it was typically 1.4 metres. Further, he advised
there might be requirements for venting or casing or adjusting the depth of cover if the service
road was o cross pipelines. Mr. Griffith noted that the location of the service road proposed by
the Crown avoids crossing any pipelines or utility cotridors.

Mr. Griffith advised that Genivar has checked previous legal surveys and plans in
preparing the detailed construction drawings. It appenrs that a rght-of-way for a service road
was taken 2s a condition of subdivision when an area of Mr. Johnson's land was subdivided.
That area is identified as the area between the two red markings found on Tab 2 of Exhibit 1.
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Cross-Examination of Mr. Griffith

Ms. Tkachuk asked Mr. Griffith that, of the 75 kilometres of new service road
proposed, how many crossings would there be of pipelines. Mr. Griffith replied that there would
be quite a few and agreed that to have a crossing of a pipeline, if Mr. Johnson's proposed route
were adopted, would net be unusual

EVIDENCE OF THE OBJECTORS

Leslie Howard Johnson

Other than identifying himself as a resident of Wandering River and the owner of
the Lands, Mr. Johnson gave no further evidence in chief.,

Cross-Examination af Mr. Johnson

Mr. Johnson agreed that his main concern is with the Joss of trees thal would
result from the proposed expropriation and how that would affect his residence as well as his
farming operations. Mr. Johnson advised that the impact on farming, the wind, the noise and the

loss of privacy are his concerns with the removal of the trees on his property.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Exproprigiing Authority

Mr. Dube submitted that the intended expropriation of Mr, Johnson's Land is fair,
sound and reasenably necessary, The expropriation is required to accemplish the twinning of
Highway 63 initially to an expressway status or standard, and ultimarely to a freeway staus. The
twinning is to increase safety and to accommodate the increased traffic volumes as well as large
loads which are travelling to Fort McMurray from other panis of the province. As a result of
being upgraded 1o expressway status, Highway 63 has direct access points which will be
removed. As the Crown is legally required to provide access to affected landowners, a service

road is reguired.

Mr. Dube summarzed the evidence of Mr. Reppert. Mr. Reppen described the
proposed Jocation of the service road and the altemate route suggested by Mr, Johnson,
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Mr. Reppent advised of the benefits of having the service road both parallel and adjacent to
Highway 63. This would be the most eflicient design for the service road location in terms of
construction and maintenance which would henefit the Crown as well as the County, Mr. Dube
also summarized Mr. Reppert’s evidence concerning the impacts of Mr. Iohnson’s altemate
route, He testified that this route increased the length of the service road, increasing the cost of
construction and the cost of maintenance. In addition, the road would be less safe than a service
road paralleling and adjacent 1o Highway 63. Costs of construction would increase because of
the pipelines or other utility rights-of-way that would need 1o be dealt with, if Mr. lohnson's
altermate route was adopted. Finally, there was already land dedicated that could be used for the
service road that was owned by the Crown and would not need to be expropriated.

Mr. Dube also summarized the evidence of Mr. Griffith. He summarized that
Mr. Gritfith described the design guidelines for construction of a service road and the detailed

engineering work and drawings done by Genivar,

Mr. Dube submitted that the proposed expropriation is fair, sound and reasonably
necessary in the anainment of the goals of the Expropristing Authority. Further, regarding
Mr. Johnson's objections, Mr. Dube submitted that: Mr. Johnson's residence is set back a long
way from the line of trees that would be removed and therefore the privacy concem is minimal;
any such impact could be compensated with the process at the Land Compensation Board; the
alleged impact on the farming operations would also be a matter that could be dealt with through
the compensation process at the Land Compensation Board. Mr, Dube also noted that new trees
could be planted by Mr. Johnson to recreate the shelter belt,

Obfector

Ma. Tkachuk noted that the stated objective of the Exproprinting Authority was
the construction, development, and maintenance of Highway 63. She submitted that the
proposed service road is incidental to this objective and that it was possible to construct Highway
63 without the construction of the service road as it is currently proposed by the Expropriating
Aatthority.
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Ms, Tkachuk submitted that the altemate route proposed by Mr, Johnson would
have the service road constructed to the west of his property. She submitted this would be built
on land already owned by the Crown, would not require any expropriation of Mr. Johnson's
lands and would allow him to keep the shelter belt of trees.

Ms. Tkachuk submitted that the trees which are at risk provide a visual, sound and
wind barrier for Mr. Johnson. She submitted that these were essential to his farming operations
as well as his use and enjoyment of his lands, as he does reside on the property in question.

Ms. Tkachuk suggested that the reasons for rejecting Mr. Johnson's suggested
route for the service road were not sound, reasonable or fair, the first reason being safety.
Ms, Tkachuk submitted that Mr. Reppert gave evidence thal it was possible to have safety
measures such as signage constructed to make the service road safe. With respect to efficiency
of travel, the increased travel time of 30 seconds is not such as to reasonably be construed as
rendering the route “inefficient”. With respect 1o the costs, Ms, Tkachuk noted that the Crown
did not provide any actual numbers for the increase in costs for construction or costs to maintain
by the local authority. Therefore, these costs could be negligible in comparison to total costs for
the Crown or the local authority,

Ms. Tkachuk suggested that there was another option, which was not really the
subject matter of evidence: namely, direct access entering Highway 63, until Highway 63 is
upgraded 1o the freeway status. It was submitted that that was an option and that, given the
estimate of 20 to 30 years before freeway status may be reached for Highway 63, it would be a
reasonable option.

Ms, Tkachuk submitied that because there were reasonable alternatives which
would not require the expropriation of Mr. Johnson's land, the proposed expropriation is not
reasonably necessary, fair or sound in achieving the objective of the Expropriating Authority.

FINDINGS OF FACT

I find as a fact that the Expropristing Authority has the objective of improving
Highway 63, first to an expressway status, and subsequently 1o a freeway status. To accomplish
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this objective in accordance with the Functional Plan, design and safety standards in use by
Alberta Transportation and the local authority, this requires limiting direct access to Highway 63
and ultimately the construction of a service road to provide access to landowners adjacent to
Highway 63 only by way of interchange. 1 find as a fact that the service road route proposed by
the Expropriating Authorily is a reasonable route for such a service road.

The Objector, Mr. lohnson, has established as a fact that construction of the

service road and the removal of trecs would likely negatively impact his use and enjoyment of

his property.

The altemate route for a service road proposed by Mr. Johnson has some
advaniages and some disadvantages over the route proposed by the Expropriating Authority. I
do not find as a fact that Mr. Johnson's proposed route is obviously more advantageous than the

route proposed by the Expropriating Authority.

The primary concems expressed by Mr. Johnson in his oral evidence relate
primarily to issues of compensation relating to loss of use of enjoyment or productivity of his
lands.

I find that the construction of a service road is a requirement for the Project. That
is, if the Expropriating Authority is to upgrade Highway 63 1o an expressway and thereafier a
freeway status, following normal design, safety, and construction standards, it would require the

construction of a service road and the elimination of direct access to Highway 63.

The Expropriating Authority, or the Crown, already has ownership of lands which
lie between the red markings on the Johnson IOP drawing -which is found in Exhibit 1, Tab 2,
page 1. It is an advantage to the service road route recommended by the Expropriating
Authority, or its consultants, that part of the right-of-way fm. such a service road includes land
already owned by the Crown,

Although the Expropriating Authority did not perform exact costing calculations,
I find that the costs of construction and maintenance of a service road on the route proposed by
Mr. Johnson would be significantly higher than the route for the service road proposed by the
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Expropriating Authority. Costs of construction would be approximately 50% more and the cosis
of maintenance would again be approximately 50% more, in perpetuity. This would not be
insignificant, given the general estimate in evidence, which [ find to be a fact, that the additional
construction costs, including addressing pipeline and other utility right-of-way crossings, would
be several hundreds of thousands of dollars, perhaps as high as $1.5 million dollars in extra

cosls,

I find as a fact that construction of a gravel service road adjacent and parallel to
Highway 63 would not create any significant safety concemns. It appears unlikely that motorists
would become confused that Highway 63 is a three-lane highway given that the service road is
gravel, there is a separation ditch which will be grassed, and that this type of service road
construction and location is common throughout Alberta,

I find that the traffic volume and the large loads which wravel on Highway 63 are
imcreasing and are the reasons for which the Project is proceeding,

OPINION ON THE MERITS
OF THE INTENDED EXPROPRIATION
AND REASONS THEREFOR

The scope of this Inquiry is set out in section 15(8) of the Act, which states:

The Inquiry Officer shall inguire inie whether the intended expropriution is far,

sound and reasonably necessary in the schievement of the ohjectives of the

Expropriating Authority,

In my opinion, the intended expropriation is fair, sound and reasonably necessary
in the achievement of the objective of the Expropriating Authority. As noted above, the
objective of the Authority is to upgrade Highway 63, Part of any such upgrade is reducing and
ultimately eliminaling direct accesses to Highway 63 from adjacent landowners property.
Further, part of such an upgrade is to create service roads which provide access to Highway 63
for adjoining landowners, ultimately only at interchanges,

The reasons for the Expropriating Authority, and its consultants, proposing the
location of the service road parallel and adjacent to Highway 63 are sound,  Although there are
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advantages and disadvantages o both the route proposed by the Expropriating Authority and the
route proposed by Mr. Johnson, the route proposed by the Expropriating Authority is not
capricious or unreasonable. i cannot be said that the route proposed by Mr. Johnson is
obviously superior to that proposed by the Expropriating Authority.

[ note that it may be some lime before the service road is constructed. The
evidence was unclear as to when construction will actually occur. If construction will not occur
for some time, presumably the Expropriating Authority would not remove the trees which
provide a shelter belt to Mr. Johnson's property, even after expropriation of the properny.
Hopefully, the parties are able to reach an understanding in this regard should construction not
take place for a considerable period of time after expropriation,

The mere fact that actual construction may not take place for quite some time
does not establish that the proposed expropriation is not fair, sound and reasonably necessary.
Long term assembly of land and right-of-ways is required for long term detailed planning and
construction for roadway improvement. In my opinion, the evidence does not support that the
timelines being followed by the Expropriating Authority, in these circumstances, are such that 1
could conclude that the intended expropriation is not fair, sound and reasonably necessary,

Pursuant to section 13(10) of the Acr, the reasonable costs of the Objector
incurred in connection with this Inguiry shall be paid by the Expropriating Authority,

DATED at the City of Edmonton, in the Province of Alberta, this 4™ day of

Movember, 2011. ;
/;mm McLENNAN, Q.C.

Inguiry Officer

#600, 12220 Stony Plain Road
Edmonton AB T3N 3Y4
Phone: (780) 482-9221

Fax: (780) 482-9100
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TO: Mr. John-Mare Dube
Counsel for the Minister of Infrastructure
Alberta Justice
Civil Law Litigation

9" Floor, Peace Hills Trust Tower
10011 = 109 Street
Edmonton AB TSKE 358

AND TO: Ms. Chelsea Tkachuk
Counsel for Leslie Howard Johnson
Micholl & Akers
2040, 10187 — 104 Street
Edmonton AB TSI (729
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APPENDIX 1 - LIST OF EXHIBITS

Exhibit
L Submissions of the Expropriating Authority, inchuding Tabs | through 5

2, Submissions on bebalf of the Objector, including Tabs | through 12
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IN THE MATTER ol the Expropriation Act, being Chapter E-13 of the Revised
Stowutes of Albersa, 2000, and amendments thereto (“Act™);

ANMD IN THE MATTER OF the intended expropriation by the Minister of
Infrastructure and Tramsportation of a fee simple interest in those lands described
as!
All that portion of the North East Quarler (NE ') of Section Twenty-One
{21}, Township Two {2}, Range Sixteen (16), West of the Fourth (4"'}
Meridian, stonding under Certificate of Title 041 202 64041 and shown
cross-hatched on the sketch plan attached to and forming part of this
document containing 1.83 Hectares (4.51 Acres), move or less
Excepting thereaut all mines and minerals (“Madge Lands™);

AND IN THE MATTER OF the MNotice of Objection to the said intended
exprapriotion filed by Paul Madge by his solicitors, Stringam Denecky;,

AND IN THE MATTER OF an Inguiry in respect thereof purswant o the
provisions of the said Act by Graham McLennan as Inguiry Officer appointed by
R. tMeil Dunne, Q.C., Executive Director, Civil Law, o conduct the said Inquiry;

REPORT OF TITE INQUIRY OFFICER

July 2i, 2006
COUNSEL
Stringam Denecky Alberta Justice
Steve Denecky, (.C. Christopher D. Holmes
Counsel for the Ohjector Counsel for Expropriating Authority
314 - 3" Sireat South Minister of Infrastructure and
Lethibridge AB T1J3Y3 Transportation (“ATT*)

2" Floor, Peace Hills Trust
LOOLL — 109 Sereet
Edmonton AB T3] 358
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PART 1 - INTRODUCTION

This Inquiry concers the intended expropriation by ATT of the Madge Lands for
the purposes of the copstruction, development and maintenance of a highway, specifically
Highwary 4.

The Ohjector, Pawl Madge, has filed s Notice of Objection (Exhibit 11),

AT was represented by Christopher Holmes and Lhe Objector was represented by
Steve Denecky, Q.C.

The hearing was held on Thursday and Friday, Tone 29 and 30, 2006, at Council
Chambers, Town Hall Building, in Milk River, Alberia.

Counsel for AIT and counsel for the Objector agreed that all appointments,
notices, filings, and registrations with respeet to the intended expropriation, the objection, and
this Inguiry have been properly performed in accordance with the Act. Most of the relevant

documents in this regard were entered by agreement as Exhabir 11,

Counsel for AIT and counsel for the Ohjector advised there were no preliminary
objections tor the Hearing proceeding. However, Mr. Denecky made opplication to add loseph

O"Donnell and Betty O"Donnell as parties to the proceedings.

After hearing submissions from Mz, Denecky and Mr. Holmes, [ ruled that Joseph
O'Donnell and Betry O Dounell would not be added as pariies because il appeared that the only
reason that the Objector wanted to add these individuals as parties was so that they may testily at
the Hearing. Fuarther, [ ruled that whether these individuals could testify or nol would be dealt

with as any other proposed wilness at a hearing,

The Objector did request that T inspect the Madge Lands. However, this request
was later not pursued as a result of weather conditions that made an inspection impractical.
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Evidence was given under oath and 2 count reporier was present to transeribe the

evideiice,
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PART 2 - SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

(a) EXHIBITS

Exhibits 1-23 were entered in the cowrse of the Hearing. By agreement between
the parties, Exhibit 24 was provided by counsel for ATT on July 6, 2006, as rchuttal evidence,
and Exhibit 25 was provided by counsel for the Objector. In all cases, no objection was taken by
opposing counsel to entry of the documents as exhibits, which totaled 25 exhibits.

The exhibits are listed in Appendix 1 and copies of the exhibits (by agreement
with counsel for the Objector and AIT) are provided only with the original of this reporn,

thy  EVIDENCE OF AIT

(i) Mr. Hempsey

Mr. Hempsey was employed with AT, or its predecessor departments, lor
approximately thirty-tfive years. He is now a consultunt with EarihT'ech, formerly known as Reid

Crowther, A copy of Mr. Hempsey's CV was entered as Exhibit 12.

Mr. Hempsey outlined his experience with respect to the proposed realigniment of
Highwoy 4 near the Town of Milk River. He gave evidence that, during the process of
consubiation with the Milk River community, the “town fathers” raised concerns of! maintaining
thee visibility of the Town from the highway, not separating the Town from the cemetery or
crealing an undue treffic hazard between the Town and the cemetery, and not interfering in

futere expansion of the sewage lugoon for the Town of Milk River.

Mr. Hempsey outlined the history of the Highway 4 design proposals. He noted
the Highway 4 Punctional Planning Study done by ISL (Exhibit 1), Mr. Hempsey then outlined
the Functional Planning Study for Highway 4 peepared by Reid Crowther (Exhibit 2).

M. Hempsey explained that Highway 4 is part of the Canamex project, which is
an inlernational agreement berween Canada, the United States of America, and Mexico to
priwide a roadwy corridor linking all three countries. Highway 4 through Milk River is part of
this Canamex roadway, Canada and Alberta are committed to upgrading the roadway to a four-
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lone divided highway with a posted speed limit of 110 kilomelers per hour, and with an ultimaete

abjective of reducing or eliminating direct access 1o the highway, except al interchanges.

Mr. Hempsey discussed the three highway alignment options which are set forth
in Appendix A of the Keid Crowther Report, Exhibit 2. Two of the proposed alignments were Lo
the east of Milk River and one proposed alignment to the west of Milk River.

Mr, Hempsey reviewed tralTic flows on the proposed western alignmenl route.
He discussed the proposed inlersections in connections with Highway 501, He further discussed

the advantages of the western alignment versus the proposed eastern alignments.

Mr. Hempsey indicated that the final design decision o go with the western

alignment route was made in approximalely October of 1999,
Cross-Examination of Mr. Hempsey

Mr. Hempsey was cross-cxamined by Mr. Denecky, counsel for the Objector.
Mr. Hempsey clarified that he is referring 1o the same facilicy when he makes reference 1o

“Plains Canada™ or “Murphy Oil"" Facilitics, It is simply a name change,

Mr. Hempsey did not recall seeing eleven initial road alignment proposals at any

time during the conceptual development of this proposed project.

Mr. Hempsey acknowledged that initial discussions with respect o highway

design were focused on a route that was to the east of Milk River.,

Mr. Hempsey acknowledged that the far eastern route would do the job of simply
a roadway function as well as the western highway proposed route.  However, Mr. Hempsey
undlerstood that the “town fathers” were not happy with the castem route and that the western
roule that was proposed better accommodated the desires of Town visibility and lack of

interference regarding the cemetery traflic or Muure expangion of the sewage lagoon.

Mr. Hempsey acknowledged in questioning by Mr. Denecky that there were other
arcas of Highway 4 and Highway 2 that were not up to a standard of a four-lane divided highway
and that complied with the ultimate objectives of AIT, For example, in Naton and Claresholm,
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the highway narrowed and went theough towns. At these locations, these highways did not meet

the “Canamex™ standareds,

Mr. Hempsey was asked about the “cross-hatched” aren which outlines the Madge
Lands found on Exhibit U {the Alignment Plan aerial photograph with superimposed proposed
design). Mr, Hempsey advised that the Madge Lands were required to allow construction of a
highway and 10 allow access to the dver to allow the construction of bank protection to prevent
continual erosion of the bank, which in turn would threaten the new proposed highway,

Mr. Denecky asked My, Hempsey whether the construction of the bank protection
could not be done by way of some type of easement, rather than expropriation of the Madge
Lands.  Mr. Hempsey speculuted that that may be possible.  However, there would be g
requirement for periodic inspection, maintenance or upgrading of the bank protection thal would
also be required. A permanent easement of some type may allow for this type of work as well,

Mr. Hempsey was cross-examined about the need for 2 roadway to be built scross
the Madge Lands to allow for construction and maintenance of the bank protection.
Mr. Hempsey gave evidence of the approximate minimum width required o construct the
roadway, ditches and associated _work at the location of the Madge Lands, and he estimated this

to be a minimum of seventy-1wo meters,

Mr. Hempsey acknowledged that there was a possibilivy that Highway 4 would be

further expanded o six or move lanes at some time in the fvare.

Mr. Denecky then questioned Mr. Hempsey with respect to the proposed rail spur
line. He noted that this would require the building of a new railway bridge, which would not be
required {because there would be no movement of the railway track) if the Highway 4 alignment
to the east of Milk River was chosen, br, Hempsey agreed with this observation.

Re-Examination of Mr. Hempsey

In re-examination of Mr. Hempsey by Mr, Holmes, he was asked to look at
Exhibit 10, a sketch which shows the details of a proposed access road 1o be built across the
Madge Lands to the Milk River to enable construction and maintenance of the bank protection
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armoring (also referred 1o as “Spurs™). Mr, Hempsey elaborated on the proposed sketch of the

access road to Milk River.

{ii)  Mr. Brownbridge

Mr. Brownbridge advised that he was the project divector at Stantee Engincering
with respect 1o the realignment of Highway 4 and the associated movement of the CPR rail line.
He advised that Stantee had been vetained by AIT for design and construction engineeing for
this project. Mr. Brownbridge's CV was marked as Exhibit 13,

Mr. Brownbridge advised thal Exhibit 9 waes prepared by Stanec and was
representative of the route for the realignment of Highway 4 that will he set forth in further

detailed construction design drawings,

Mr. Brownbridge was project director of a team at Stantec of fifty to sixty

individuals who had vanous expertise which was brought to bear on this project for Stantec.

Mr. Brownbridge was qualilied as an expert in roml design, aml his qualifications
were not scriously challenged except for Mr. Denecky's submission that Mr. Brownhridge

lacked experience in railway design,

M. Brownbridge reviewed Exhibit 9 in detail and discussed the “cross-hatched'”
area which desigated the Madge Lands that were the subject of the proposed expropriation, He
ailvised these lands were required to construet the Highway 4 rosdway and 1o provide on area to
allow access Lo the Milk River to construct and maintain Spurs to prevent or at least reduce the
continued erosion of the bank, which in tum would threaten the proposed relocation of

Highway 4.

Mr. Brownbridge advised that the total width of the roadway area proposed to be
constructed would be from 70w 90 meters, depending on the topography at any given location.
For example, if the roadway needs to oot through hillside, then the size ol the roadway easement
required would be larger than if the roadway simply needed to cross flat land. This is becouse
the slopes need 1o be cut ut a certain ratie and this obviously takes more land than if the roadway

i crossing Mab land,  Mr, Brownbridge thought that Mr. Hempsey's rough caleulations of
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seventy-two mefers were probably somewhat low, on average, for a highway such as that

proposed for the upgraded and realigned Highway 4.

With references to Exhibit 9 and Exhibit 10, Mr. Brownbridge described the
highway area adjacent (o the Madge Lands, This area of land had wopography that shows o knoll

or a lill which indicates that a wider rondway easement is required.
Mr. Brownbridge then reviewed photographs that are contaimed in Exhibit 14,

Mr. Brownbridge indicated that access w the bank protection Spurs would be
requited for comstroction, for inspections and assessment as to whether the Spurs were

performing properly and whether they may need repair if damaged by ice or flooding.

Mr, Brownbridge discussed the proposed bridge design for 4 new crossing over
the Milk River, He indicated that Stantec amalyzed whether one, two or three piers should be
used in the design for the bridge. They looked at the question of ice jamming and concluded that
the existing bridge, and bridge piers, were not causing ice jamming, Rather, the ice jamming
oceurred at @ bend in the Milk River and the jce jam backed up towards the existing bridge.
Mr. Brownbridge indicated that the ope-pier design had been selected and that the one pier was
1o he built on a suodbar in the Malk River wo mininnze any potential to contribute (o ice jamming.

Mr. Brownbridge, in referring to Exhibit 7, oullined the proposed lighting design
for the proposed construction of Highway 4, He indicated that the three new interseclions were

to be illuminated in the manner sel forth in the lighting design sketch, Exhibat 7.

Cross-Examination of Mr. Brownbridge

Mr. Denecky cross-examined Mr, Brownbridge on the subject of the widih
requiremnent for the proposed construction of the Highway between Milk River at the Madge
Lands and the Plains Gas marketing facility. Mr. Brownbridge believed that the right-of-way or
easemnent required for the railway was approximately 30 meters. . Further, he discussed the
distances between the separation from the highway to a rail line adjscent o the highway. There
was discussion of the approximate distance from the rail line to the bank of the Milk River al the

Madge Lands being approximately 170 meters,
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Mr. Brownbridge advised that he was unsure of o specified miniowm distance

between the riverbank and the proposed highway construction.

An additional cross-section deawing was referred to by Mr. Brownbridge and
marked as Exhibit 15.

Mr. Denecky ecross-cxamined Mr. Brownbridge conceming the  proposed
riverbank protection construction, which were described as Spurs,  Mr. Brownbridge thought
these Spurs were approximately 4 meters high. He believed that construction would be by way
of gravel fill in a hole followed by hesvy large rock on top of the gravel to a height of
approximately 4 meters,

Mr. Brownbridge 1Inderslood. that access 1o the Spurs would be by way of the
proposed road built through the Madge Lands. Onece construction was complete, he anticipated
the road would remain and would probably be gated and locked o prevent public access to the

river through this road.

Mr. Brownbridgs advised that the aceess road would be required to descend
approximately 9 meters from the Highway to the Milk River.

Mr. Denecky cross-cammined Mr. Brownbridge with respect to whether the river
could be accessed through Junds immediately south of the property owned by Mr. Madge where
the land was relatively flat and the river could be accessed without having to build a road down
through the knoll found on the Madge Landa.  Mr. Brownbridge was not sure if such access

could be utilized for the purpose of construction and maintenance of the Spurs,

M. Denecky then cross-canmined Mr. Brownbridge with respect te the Canamex
highway stendards. Mr. Denecky questioned whether level railroad crossings complicd with the
Canamex standards and Mr, Brownbridge noted that there were other level railway crossings:
for example, one at Coutts and one at Sterling, Alberta.  Further, Mr, Brownbridge
acknowledged that the Reid Crowther Report notes thal if this Highway 4 was upgraded to

[reeway standards, then the rail line must be at a different clevation than the highway
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Mr, Brownbridge acknowledged that there is a sk of milfvehicle accidents where
there are level crossings intersecting highways, and further, that if the proposed route east of
Milk River was chosen, then there would be no level crossing between the roilway and the
proposed Highway 4 realipnment.

Mr. Denecky explored with Mr. Brownbridge the cost of the alernate routes east
of Town or west of Town, Mr, Brownbridge acknowledged that Stantec did not examine the
guestion of the cost ol alternate routes, which Reid Crowther did in their report.

Mr. Denecky cross-examined Mr. Brownbridge on the subject of whether bridee
piers increased the risk of ice jams. He referved Mr. Brownbridge (o the Reid Crowther Report

{Exhibit 2), Appendix C, Figure 3, and suggested that bridge piers couse ice joms.

Mr. Denecky cross-examined Mr. Brownbridge on the likelihood of there being
an expansion of the proposed Highway 4 to six lanes or eight lanes and whether the proposed
design could accommodate such expansion. Mr Brownbridge gave evidence that such a
highway lane exponsion is unlikely 10 occur because the taffic volume is low in the Milk River
area, and Mr. Brownbridge is unaware of any reason to think that there will he a substantial
increage in the volume of traflic so a5 o make a six- or eight-lane expansion likely in the

foreseeable future,

Mr. Denceky cross-examined Mr, Brownbridge on whether Stantec considered
taking sieps o redireel the flow of the Milk River at the location where the Milk River bend is
found adjacent (o the Madge Lands. Mr, Denecky suggested this procedure could be employed
g0 that the erosion of the bank would no longer be a concern.  Mr. Brownbridge gave evidence
that such a redivection of the flow of the river would probably be more costly and perhaps
environmentally Jamaging then the proposal of constructing Spurs.  When cross-examined
regarding the cost of construction of the Spurs by Mr, Denecky, Mr. Brownbridge was unable to

provide an estimated cost.
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Re-Examination of Mr. Brownbridge

[ re-examination by Mr. Holmes, Mr. Brownbridge clarified that Stntec's
assignment from ATT was not o look at altematives but to proceed with design and construction

enginecring with respect to the western alignment aption of Highway 4.

Further Cress-Examination of Mr. Brownbridge

In response to further questions from Mr. Denecky, Mr. Brownbridge sdvised that
Stantee had panly completed some cost estimates, and would prepare a new cost estimate before
advertising for tenders.  However, that work bad not been completed us of the date
Mr. Brownbridge testified. There was no cost information presented other than that done by
Reid Crowther in 1999, Mr. Brownbridge opined that that cost information was out of date.

(i) Mr. Marlin

Mr. Martin advised he was a contract employee with Stantec. He worked in the

environmental group section of Stantec.

With respect to this project for the realignment of Highway 4 tw the west of Milk
River, Mr. Marlin advised that there was o provincial environmental assessment thal was
n:qlli;rtd. He [wrther advised that there was a federal n:quirumenl under the Canadian
Envirormental Assessment Act which wos riggered because there was a river crovsaing aul there

was a proposed movement of a railway line,

Accondimgly, Stantec assisted in providing the requisite environmental report, and
dealing with the designated [ederal department, Transport Canada, in addressing environmental

issues rajsed and replying 1o those issues,

Mr. Martin noted that Transport Conada requirements regarding road/railway
crossings were found in Exhibit 5.

Mr., Martin reviewed some of the conclusions that e reached i addressing
environmental concerns. These included noise in the course of construction. This was to be
mitigated by the recommended wse of equipment which was less noisy in driving any piles that

may be required for the project. Mr. Martin also concluded there may be a non-environmental
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impact of the Highway 4 proposed westerly alignment: namely, & potential negalive impac! on

Milk River businesses. However, this potential impact was not explored by him.

Mr. Martin addressed (he question of the archacological sites that may be
impacted by the proposed westerly realignment and construetion of Highway 4. Mr, Martin
advised that the identified impact of two archaeological sites were reviewed by the Province of
Alberta in a historical resources overview process, That process ultimately culminated in work
heing performed by consultants and thereafter the provincial authosities in charge of historical
muhaeu!ngicul matters issued a “Clearsnce Letter” advising that these concerns have bheen
addressed in accordance wilh the legislation and that the proposed construction can proceed.
The Clearance Letter was marked ay Exhibit 6 in the proceedings. .

Cross-Examination of Mre. Martin

Mr. Denecky cross-examined Mr, Martin with respect to whether burrowing owls
would be impacted by this project.  Mr. Martin advised that his information was thar browing

owls have net been seen in the Milk River vicinity singe 1992,

Mr, Martin was cross-cxamined with respect to the leopard frog and he advised
that the leopard frog was not impacted by this construction as they were not found o be near the

congiruction arcas, -

Mr. Denecky then cross-examined Mr. Martin with respect o the archacological
sites which may be impacted by the proposed construction realigning Highway 4 to the west of
Milk River. Mr. Martin reiterated the fact that the provineial authoritics charged with oversight
of historical resowrces, such as archacological sites, had reviewed the matter and had signed off

on the proposed construction,

Mr. Martin acknowledged that the highway noise of the western alignment would
be greater than the eastem alignment because it was closer to Town and prevailing winds were
from the west.
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(iv)  Mr. Younger

M. Younger advised he was the Manager of Public Works with Canadian Pacific
Railway. His duties included working with federal and provincial regulators with respect 1o the
relocation of railway tracks and other comstruction involving Canadian Pacific Railways.
Futher, Mr. Younger has a Bachelor of Engineering, Civil. He has worked with Canadion
Pacific since 1979 in various capacities and is a registered prolessional engineer in the Province
of Alberta.

He has been personally involved with respect to the proposed relocation of the

Canadinn Pacilic rail line adjacent to Milk River for the last couple of years.

M. Younger advised thal the railway access to Milk River for use of the grain
elevator and other commercial eperations in Milk River aversges one train per week. This will
be the case before wnd alter the proposed constuction realigning Highway 4 and making eertnin

changes to (he Canadian Pacific rail line,

Mr. Younger advised that there would be o new milway bridge and that the old
bridge would be removed and the land remediated by the Provinee of Alberta.

Mr. Younger advised that it was proposed there be a new level crossing of 2 Spur
line toward the noeth end of Town and indicated where the proposed Spur line was (o be located
with reference to Exhibit 9. The proposal in this regard prepared by Stantec was received by
Canadian Pacific, and Canadian Pacific provided input to Stantec to deal with the issues raised
by Transport Canada,  Mr. Younger understands that final approval by Transport Canada is yet
to be provided, but is anticipated.

Mr. Younger advised that Transport Canada has set forth what standards are
retuired for road/rail crossings, and this is set forth in Exhibit 5.

Mr. Younger nisted that the vehicle highway speed proposed is 110 kmohour. He
noted that the trains will be travelling at 10 mph. at the proposed Spur line crossing.

Mr. Younger reviewed the Transport Canada requirements that included a

formula for establishing the number of vehicles and number of trains per day, on average, at a
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roadkirailway crossing. The numbers so peneraied (in this case, 1 tmin per day x 2,800 vehicles
per day) indicale that a level-grade crossing wamning system is cequived in the form of signage
and flashing lights. Further, Mr. Younger indicated that there would have to he al least 50,000
vehicles per day required at such a crossing for Transport Canada guidelines to require a gate

wurning system o be installed.

It the level crossing which was proposed at the Spur line crossing of the proposed
realignment of Highway 4, Canadian Pacific is proposing fashing lights and bells at the
crossing, as well as an active advance warning sign/flight in advance of the intersection.  This
latter safely feature is not required by Transport Canada, but is proposed to be implemented by
Canadian Pacific at this site.

M, Younger reviewed Exhibit 7, the lighting plan, and noted that there appears to
b street lighting which will iHluminate the intersection where the rail Spur line is to be crossing

the highway.

Mr. Younger spoke abourt the frequency of rail/vehicle collisions. He opined that
the frequency of such collisions was relatively low, Further, he nofed that there were other lavel
crossings on divided highways found in the Province of Alberta, such as ot Bassano on the
Trans-Canadn Highway,

My, Younger described the proposed lighting of the rail Spurhighway crossing.
He noted they would be LED lights, and that there would be lights both on the oulside lanes
reaching across the highway and hghts on a stand in the meridian provading warning to vehicles

on the ingide lanes.

Cross-Examination of Mr. ¥Younger

Mr, Younger was asked why Exhibit 5, the Transport Canada requirements, are
noted to be “draft”. He indicated that, although not yet proclaimed into law, these requirements
are posted om the Transport Canada website and are accepted by the railway industry as
Transport Canada requirements, They have apparently been under discussion in the industry for

many years and, even though (he draft was finalized in October 2002, there have been no other
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proposed changes since 2002, Further, Mr. Younger anticipates promulgation within the next

few months.

Mr. Younger was nol sure how the Canamex requirements for rowsdail affected
this project, as he was not familiar with amy Canamex requirements that may be applicable to

railways. §

Mr. Younger was cross-examined with respect o the proposed Spur line,
Mr. Younger noted that there wus to be one train per week on average.  There would be two
crossings per visit and the time required to move an average length train over the highway

section would be 3 to 5 minutes.

Mr. Younger was not sure whether the statistic of o train once a week was onee o

week per customer, or once a week [or all customers, located in Milk River.

Mr. Younger acknowledged in cross-examination that customer demand could
increase, or decrease, the number of weekly train visits, However, Mr. Younger noted that, even
il train waffic doubled inte Milk River over the Spur line, there would still he a very low
frequency of vehicle/mil traffic and, thersfore, applying the Transport Canada formula, there
would be no impact on the preseni design of the crossing and the safety features that are
presently proposed,

Mr, Denecky asked Mr, Younger whether there were bulk fuel rail irips into Milk
River or trips into Milk River to move fertilizer, and Mr, Younger advised he was unaware of the
frequency of any such rail trips into Milk River using the Spur line.

Mr. Younger conceded that collisions do occur at level crossings between trains
and vehicles. He was unaware ol an incident Mr. Denecky related concerning o Milk River

resident losing her life in a railftrain collision in Lethbridge some time in the recent pasl.

Mr. Younger advised Mr. Denecky in cross-examinstion that a grade separation
between the rail line and the roadway is generally only considered where there would be 200,000
vehicles per day, assuming there was one train per day (applying the Transport Canada formula
of a “cross-product”™ of 200,000 being required to consider a grade separation).
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Mr. Denecky asked Mr Younger about the Alderside grade separation,
Mr, Younger advised that in that location Transport Canada defermined a grade separation was
not required as the “cross-product” was not high enongh. Therefore, the Province of Alberta
simply paid for the constraction of the grode separation crossing without any contribution by

Canadian Pacilic,

Mr. Younger advised that Canadian Pacific was required (o provide notice 1o

Transport Canada if it was proposing to relocate a rail line.

Although final approval had not been received by Transport Canada, if the rail
line movement Is approved, then the discontinued Canadian Pacific tracks will be removed and

the land provided to the Provines for remediation.

It was Mr. Younger's understanding that construction of the new railway beds and
wacks will be paid for by the Province, although it is not yet clear who will actually direct
eonstruction in this vegard. Further, the bridge required for construetion will also be paid for by
the Province of Alberta,

(¢}  EVIDENCE OF THE OBJECTOR

(i Mr. ("Brien
Mr, O Brien described himsell as 2 “layman™ with construction and engineering
survey expericnee.  He was a senior surveyor with Alberta Transportation for many years and

worked on the survey of highways for Alberta Transportation in conjunction with engineers.

Mr. O'Briecn had taken materials testing and survey cowrses and project
management courses over the years. Mr. O'Brien had some construction management

experience with respect to highway projects in residential subdivisions.

Mr. O Brien started the company, O'Brien Engineering & Surveys Ltd., after his
employment with Alberta Transportation. That company was sold 1o EBA Engineering.

Mr. O Brien was qualified as an expert in the field of constoaction surveying.
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Mr. O'Brien was retained by londowners in the Milk River area o look al Lhe
propesed location of the proposed westerly alignment of Highway 4 and to consider an eastern
alignment.  Mr. O'Brien prepared a report on the preliminary design and cost estimate for
realignment of Highway 4 at Milk River, which was marked as Exhibit 19,

Mr. O'Brien advised that Plate 1 in Exhibit 19 showed the rowe that he
considered o be the most reasonable alignment of Highway 4, which was to the east of Milk
River. In fact, his alignment was the most easterly alignment of any proposed alignments, of
which Mr. O'Bricn was aware. His proposed far eastern alignment was approximately 8.5 km,
long from when it left old Highway 4 south of Milk River um:ll it rejeined old Highway 4 porth
of Milk River.

Mr. O'Brien advised that his proposed far eastern route has advantages, including:
it cut seross farm land that was not very productive looking; it was more economical to

comstruct; and it did pot require the relocation of the Canadian Pacific rail lines,

Mr. O Brien opined that bridge construction was approximately len limes more

expensive than road construction per meter.

Mr. (¥ Brien recalls seeing eleven proposals, during the history of this project, all
of which, pechaps excepl for one, were (o the enst of the Tawn of Milk River, Mr. O'Brien
prepared his report, Exhibit 19, in the year 2000

Mr. O'Brien opined that moving milways is a costly exercise.  He had (wo
experiences, working as a surveyor, where he believes he knew the cost of projects that involved
moving railways. The cost of roodways Mr. O'Brien opined to be approximately 51 million per
kilometer. Although he could not give an estimate for relocating the CPR milway access 1o Milk
River, he opined that the cost of moving a track and installing a bridge were very expensive

relative o roadway construction,

Cross-Examination of Mr, (’Brien

Mr. Holmes cross-examined Mr. O'Brien on the issue of whether surveyors

generally lake directions [rom engineers in connection with projects such as the construction of a
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highway. My, O'Brien conceded that was sometimes the case. However, when he was with
Alberta Transportation, it was Mr. O'Brien’s recollection that the surveyors did preliminary
surveys for location options and provided that information 1o enginzsers, who in tum provided
engineering design options for various routes. Onee a final alignment was decided upon by the

engineers, the surveyors would then go survey that particular routs.

Mr. O'Brien acknowledged that public input or public opinions are net something
that are considered in the surveyor's work generally,  Further, environmental issues are not

matlers considered by a surveyor in performing his duties.

Mr. ('Brien acknowledged that the movement of railway lines in Red Deer was
significantly different than the rail line movement proposed for the Milk River praject, and that
he had no idea of the cost of the Milk River railway work that was proposed.

Mr. Hobmes referred Mr. O Brien to Exhibit 2, Figure 1, of the Reid Crowther
Report. He also referred My, O Brien to Appendix A, Table 2. Mr. ('Brien was not aware of
much of the information set forth, such as that the western alignment inchules use of 3.5 km. of
exisling highway wherzas the eastem routes do not, Mr. Q' Brien felt something was wrong with
the estimated cost comparison of the castern routes and the western route by Reid Crowther, as
the eastern aptions were approximately $1 million per km. whereas the westem option was
approximately $0.5 million per km. for enly the roadwork, My, O'Brien was not prepared to
comcede that the cost of moving dirt was higher with the proposed eastern routes versus the
western routes,  Mr, O'Brien did question why Stantec was not able to provide detailed cost
estimates for the proposed construction of the westerly alipnment of Highway 4 and the

associated work on service ronds, rail lines, and river bank protection work.

Mr. & Brien opined that the use of the existing bighway was not very much of a
COSE KOVING over new construction, as there is typically upgrading snd other work required o the

existing highway in any event,

Mr, O'Bricn agreed with Mr. Holmes that he saw no problems or had no concerns
with respecet 1o the proposed width of the casement required herween the Milk River to the east
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and the Plains Gas marketing facilities 1o the west 1o incorporate the proposed constiuction for

the project,

Re-Exsmination of Mr. (' Brien

Mr. Denecky elarified that Mr. O'Brien's far easterly roule was (05 ko, longer,
not 500 km. longer, than the proposed westerly route.

Mr, O Brien slso referred to a section of his report, Exhibit 19, that provided a

rough estimate of the cost of carth moving for the proposed far eastern route.

(i) Mr. Hodge

Mr. Hodge advised that he bad a Bachelor of Engineering and a Master of
Engineering, as well as certification as o Land Surveyor. He is o member of the Alberta
Professivmal Engineers Association of Alberta, He has had 30 years of enginecring experience
that includes mural roads, highway uperades, highway overpass on Highway 2, and has done a
number of bridge design and construction engineering work “overseas” as well as in Cansda.
Further, hie did work on one railwiy bridge and a railway Spur line. He has had experience
working with a team of engineers on a slope failure in the North Saskatchewan River close 1o
pipeline facilities.

Mr. Hodge provided some sssistance Lo Mr, O'Brien in connection with the repart

wssued by Mr, O'Brien in 2000, Exhibit 19, He further advised that the previous evening he had
reviewed the properly and looked at certain sections of (he Stantec Report, Exhibijt 3.

Mr. Hodge alzo indicated that he did engincering work in connection with an

irigation project in India.

Mr. Denecky tendered Mr. Hodge as an expert with experience in providing
engineering services in connection with roadways, with some experience with respect to railways
and some experience with respect 10 engineering work in connection with waterways and bank

Failure.
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Mr. Holmes cross-examined Mr, Hodge on his qualifications. It was clear that
Mr. Hodge's experience with respect to rail engineering projects and slope failure related w
rivers was very limited, He had some experience related to irrigation projects in Egypl and

India.

Mr, Hodge was accepled as an expert engineer who was gualified to provide
comments on the proposed westerly alignment of Highway 4. with the weight of his opinions 1o
be assessed in light of his experience.

Mr, Hodge commented on the proposed design of the Spurs which were 10 he
constructed on the Millk River to reduce erosion of the bank adjacent to the Madge Lands.
Mr. Hodge opined that the River was namow, that he theught the Spurs would extend 15 meters
into the River; further, that this would couse problems on the inside bank of the Milk River at

that locatiom. He described his opinions as "just top of the head sort of thoughs".

Mir. Hodpe questioned whether these Spurs will lost and whether there might not
be proilems higher up the bank above (he Spurs. The nature of these problems were not
specified.

Mr. Hodge opiced that the Spurs may reduce the velocity of the Milk River
current in that lecation, which conld increase ice jJamming and erosien on the opposite riverbank.
He opined that 1ce jums and (leoding may present possible problems, Mr. Hodge opined on what

he thought may cavse ice jams, essentially any type of obstruction in the couse of the walsrwiy.

At this point, Mr. Holmes objected to this opinion evidence of Mr. Hodge.
Mr. Holmes noted that the Objectors had not provided any wrilten materials, such as expert
reports, in advance of the Hearing and that AT had no notice that Mr. Hodge was going to opine
on matters such as proposed construction of the Spurs and the subject of ice joms. Further, AIT
had no opportunity, therefore, to prepare and deal with this evidence in the course of presenting

their evidence at the Hearing.

After listening to argument from counsel, and further discussion with counsel, it
was agreed by both parties snd the Inquiry Officer directed thar:
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{2} AIT would have until Tuly 6, 2006, to prepare briel written response
evidenve to the Objector's evidence on ice jams and the construction of

Spurs.

{h)  The Objector would have until July 17 to provide a response, if any, on
these rwo evidentiary points.

(¢} Both parties would have until the close of business one day alter such
exchange of evidence to provide any further written argument they may

wish to provide, only in connection with these two evidentiary points.

Mr. Hodge continued his cvidence with reference to Exhibit 19, the O'Brien
Report.  He confirmed that he did do some work with Mr. O Brien in connection with (kis
Report. He advised that he agreed with the conclusion stated in the O'Brien Repont and, in
particular, that the far eastern option was to be preferred becanse be thought the costs for
construction would be less and that the highway would be less disruptive to the residedis of, and

vigitors to, the Town of Milk River.

Mr. Denecky referred Mr. Hodge to the Stantec Report, Exhibit 3. Mr. Hodge
advised that be had concens with the Stantec Report, in that Staitee did not consider all feasible
options and do o proper comparison of the easterly routes and the westerly route. They deal
almost exclusively with the westerly proposed aligninent of Highway 4.

Mr, Hodge adwvised that lugd been six YOUrS Since he last looked at the O Brien
Report, Nonetheless, he still agrees with the :m-nulusinns;_ Mr. Hodge opined that the costs of
construction do not appear o include railway demobilization costs and restoration costs.
Mr. Hodge estimuted o “ball park” number for such costs may be 250,000 per km.

Cross-Examination of Mr, Hodge

Mr. Holmes directed Mr. Hodge's sttention (o portions of Exhibit 19, the O°Brien
Report. Mr. Hodge indicored that he walked the propesed far easterly route as well as the
westerly route.  Mr. Hodge conceded he did not write any of the O°Brien Repont, ner did be
produce any of the ables therein. Mr. Hodpe acknowledged that he does not wake official
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responsibility, as a professional engineer, for the O'Brien Report (Exbibit 19). Otherwise, he
would have stamped the document with his professional engineering stamp. Nonetheless, Mr.
Hodge reiteraled that he shared some of the work that went into the O'Brien Report and he
shared in the views sxpressed in the O'Brien Report.

br. Hedge scknowledped in cross-exomination thal he did not know who the
¥ Brien Report was being prepared for back in 2000,

Mr. Hodge reiterated he saw advantages to the far eastem route versus the
proposed western alignment of Highway 4. These were primarily advantages with respect 1o
access in oand out of Milk Eiver and the crossing of the Milk River where il was not

“meandering”.

Mr. Hodge acknowledged that he was not aware of specific concerns raised hy the

residents of Milk River.

Mr. Hodge was cross-examined with respect to his experience on the Naorlh
Saskatchewan River regarding ice joms, He advised this was near Fort Soskatchewnn,
approximately five km. northeast of Fort Saskoeichewan. He recalled that the River was
approximately 90 meters wide at this point and, in the spring, the ice froze across the River, ice
jams were formed and water channels moved locetion as a result. Apparently, this involved both
“hanks” with respect to water channels in the River, as well as the riverbank itself being
unstable, although Mr. Hodge recalled that this was on an area of the North Saskatchewan River
whete it flowed straight. It was not at a bend in the North Saskatchewan River.

Mr. Hodge acknowledged he had no ather experience with professional engineers
with respect 1o a project that involved ice jam problems. Further, he had working with him on
the Fort Saskatchewan project engineers who had the expertise 1o deal with such issues, such as
geotechnical engineers and hydrologists, amongst others.

Mr, Hodge was questiomed about the fact that Stantec would have taken a
multidiscipline approach to addressing (he Milk River adjocent 1o the Madge Lands, which

would have included geotechnical engineers and hydrolopists. These specialists would have
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considercd the River [low and the soils encountered ot the riverbank and taken that into account

in designing the proposed Spars. Mr. Hodge agrees that this would probably have been the case.

Mr. Holmes referred Mr. Hodge 1o Exhibit 3, River Protection Report and Figure
211 Mr. Hodge advised that be would have taken approximately two hours o review the

Stantec document,

Mr. Hodge advised that, with respect to ice jams, he reviewed Exhibit 2, Figure 3.
Mr. Holmes had Mr. Hodge acknowledge that the top photographs at this location in Exhibit 2
did not provide any information as to where the photographs were wmken, and Mr. Hodge was

unaware of where along the Milk River the photographs were taken.

Mr. Hodge acknowledged that the Stantec Report, Exhibit 3, would have looked
af many issues and considerations that Mr. Hodge and Mr. O'Brien did not address in their
preparation of the O°Brien Report, Exbibit 19, Further, he conceded that some of these issues

are important engineering considesations,

Mr. Hodge confirmed that he had no involvement with respect to the costing that
is performed in the O'Brien Report (Exhibit 19),

Mr. Hodge indicated that he had had no invelvement in this project or any aspect
of the dispule since his involvement in the ' Brien Report approximately six years age. The
cvening before his testimony, he reviewed certain areas of Milk River that were impacted by the
propased construction and spent a couple of hours reviewing the Stantec Report, He did not
review any of the Reid Crowther Report other than some of the photographs.  Therefore, he
estimated that he spent approximately four hours tolal in reviewing matlers o prepare to give

cvidence.

Mr, Holmes asked Mr, Hodge about the time he spent with respect to the North
Saskatchewan River project near Fort Saskatchewan, and Mr. Hodge indicated that he spent
approximately three weeks on that project.

In connection with “flyovers”, Mr. Holmes asked Mr. Hodge il he was familiar
with the terms “warrants”. Mr. Hodge advised that he was not familiar with the erm. Mr. Hodge
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was nol able 1o advise as to the approximate number of vehicles using Highway 4 at Milk River,
Mr. Hodge was wnaware of l_hc significance, if any, of 2,000 cars per day traffic volume with
respect to the question of Ayovers (1.e., rail/ighway crossings).

Mr. Holmes cross-cxamined Mr. Hodge with respect to construction costs where
some of the existing rail or roadway bed was to be used for the proposed Higlvway 4 realignment.
It appears that this was only velevani for approximately 100 meters of roadway.,

Mr. Hodge advised that he did not look at, in his review of the area on the
previous evening, the depth of the land required for the right-of-ways for the project between the
Plains Gas marketing facility and the castern edge of the Madge Lands which borders the Milk

River.

{iii}  Mr. Madge

Mr. Madge advized that he lives in Milk River. Further, he is the present nwner
of the property that includes the Madge Lands, and a copy of title was entered gs Exhibit 20.

Mr. Mudge reviewed the history of his family’s ownership of the property that
includes the Madge Lands over the last approximately 40 years, He indicated that the lands were
used at one time for the displaying of machinery ond o sales lol for machinery. Thereafter, he
was instructed by the Department of Highways 1o remove the machinery from the lands. The
lands thereafter were used for hay. He considered at one time pedhaps building a home and has
considered whether the lands could be used for expansion of the golf course that is presently in
Milk River so that the course could expand from nine to eighteen holes. Mr, Madge advised that
his understanding was that the lands have been zoned for commercial use, with some further

designation of an approved use for a golf course,

Mr. Madge advised thal, at some point, he considered perhaps a subdivizion of the
land, although around this time the idea of the upgrading of Highway 4 came shout. Further,
Mr. Madge advised that his late wife did not want to sell the property on which the Madge Lands
were situated, Mr, Madge advised that, if 2 dam was built on the Milk River west of Town, this

may impact the value of the Madpe Lands, He did noi elaborate on this assertion.
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Mr. Madge oflered that many people over the years wanted to buy the land on
which the Madge Lands are found. Mr. Madge stated that it ok him a considerable nmnber of
years (o get a definitive response from AIT as to specific proposals o access the land he awned,
if the Madge Lands were expropriated and if the westerly route or realignment of Highway 4 was
selected.

Mr. Madge indicated that he had sold part of his lands to allow construction of the
Information/Interpretive Centre, and at this time he was also provided with an additional access
road to his lands, Mr. Madge sdvises that he needs access to his lands becaose he has a Quonset
hut on the property where he stores antiques, and he may build 8 moseunm in (hat locglion at

some point in the Future,

Mr. Madge reviewed several photographs of his property and the Madge Luancds
and these were marked as Exhibit 21, These photographs were taken by his son and depict the
Milk River bank location where, smong other things, the construction of the Spurs was proposed.
Mr, Madge noted that there was significant and continuous erosion of the banks of the Milk

River at this location over the years,

Mr. Madge noted that photograph 63, in Exhibit 21, showed Mr. Walkers land
immediately south of Mr. Madge's property, where the banks of the Milk River were
substantially lower than at the Madge Lands. Mr. Madge offered that AIT could access the Milk
River bank to perform the Spur construction from Mr. Walker's lands and would not need io take

his land 1o construct an access road 1o the Milk River to allow for construction of the Spurs.

Mr. Madge advised that the Province of Alberta had increased the amount of land
they required from when the matter was first under discussion with him. Mr. Madge believes
that the forces of nature and, in particular, the water flow force of the Milk River has been
underestimated by AIT. Further, he predicted that the proposed Spurs will be washed away or
otherwise rendered ineffective s the Milk River continues to erode the bank adjacent o the
Madge Lands,

Mr. Madge recalled that the existing bridge over the Milk River had piers changed

on it due to ice jams being caused in the pasi, Mr, Madge has seen ice jams and large blocks of
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ice on the Milk River, and he believes that they will continue 1o cause erosion to the riverbanks
and that the construction of the Spurs will not stop this process. Accordingly, Mr. Madge
believes that it will be necessary to change the location of Highway 4 in the future if it is built in
the westerly alignment, due lo the continual erosion of the banks of the Milk River,
notwithstanding construction of the Spurs.

Mr. Madge indicoted that the propossd alignment would adversely affect his
airpont, as the related construction would render the airport no longer functioning.

With respect to ice jams, Mr. Madge advised that the more bridges and the more
pillars, the more obstructions there ave for increasing ice jams and problems associated with ice

jams.

Mr. Madge expressed the opinion that the expropriation of the Madge Lands was
unnecessury and that the upgraded Highway 4 should take another route.

Mr. Madge expressed the view that one reason they wanl o expropriale
approximately four acres of his propeny is o gain acoess to the dird that is located on the Madge
Lands, which ke thinks AIT requires for construction, 17 the westerly roule is to be selected, then
Mr. Madge believes that they only need approximately 103 of un acre of his property for the
roadway and approximately 172 an scre for access w the River 1o build the Spurs, although
access he believes can be gained from Walker's property immediately to the south, which

Mr. Madge believes AIT already owns.

Cross-Examination of Mr. Madge

There was no cross-examination of Mr, Madge by Mr. Holmes.

{iv)  Ms. ()’ Donnell

Ms, O'Donnell advized that she was the daughter of Joseph O’ Donnell. She was
born and raised in the Milk River vicinity. Mr, Joseph O"Donnell, her father, is approximately
G0 years of age and is in the hospital with a broken hip. Were it not for this unfortunate incident,

Mr. O Donndl] would be present and would have liked 1o testify o this Hearing.
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Ms. 0" Donnell indicated that she owns land on the eastern side of Highway 4 and
that she had entered inlo a Section 30 sgreement to allow some of her property to be taken for
the purposes of the Highway 4 Expension Project. Ms. O'Donnell indicated she reluctantly
ogreed 1o the expropristion after taking every step she could think of o oppose the western
alignment of Highway 4. Stepﬁ {hat she took included paricipating in the hiring of O'Brien
Engineering & Surveys Lid., writing letters to politicians, and following up every olber method

of registering her concern hat she was able to detenmine,

Her objections to the westerly olignment were that: in her opinion, it was not safe
witl the Spur line crossing the highway: the Milk River bank would be unstable; and there would
be traffic congestion and traftic hazards created at the propesed intersections at the north and
south ends of the Town of Milk River,

Ms. O'Domnell indicated that her observations were that the trallic volume on
Highway 4 at Milk River was increasing over the years. She reaches this conclusion in part as a

result of working at the customs building ar the Coults border crossing for many years.

Ms. O'Donnell indicated that ber parents’ Tarm is Tocated al the #11 designation
an Exhibit 9. Ad this location, deer travel from a shelter bell of rees 1o grain elevators on the
wiier side of the highway and then back to the Milkk River. . Ms. O'Doanell believes that a
weslerly alignment of Higlway 4 will present a hazard os a result of the deer travelling route,

Mz, O'Donncll also has concemns that, with o westerly wind, tanker spills, train
demilments or other hazardous events may occur and the westerly wind would increase the harm

to the residents of Milk River,

Ms. ' Dounell advised that her parents also have entered into a Section 30
agreement with the Province permitting certain of their lands to be expropriated to allow for the
upgrading and expansion of Highway 4 for the propesed westerly route. Ms. O’ Donnell noted
that the Section 3 agreements entered into by herscll and her parents include a provision that, if
the highway development does not proceed, then they will be entitled to repurchase their lands
from the Provinee.
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Cross-Examination of Ms. (' Donnell

Mr, Holmes took Ms. O'Doanell through Exhibit #, where the various concerns
she expressed al the Hearing were previously expressed o ar least the federal government
apency, Trmsport Canada,  Further, each of these concerns was acknowledged and a resolution
or response 1o the concerns was set forth by the auwthorities.  This includes the concens with
respect 1o the safety of the intersections, traffic congestion, the risk of hazardous material spills,
deer waffic, and concerns over jce jams/flooding, Ms, O'Donnell acknowledged that responses
1o her concerns were provided as set forth in Exhibit 8,

Ms. O'Donnell made clear that the land desipnated as #11 on Exhibit 9, her
parents’ property, was not accurately described as “marginal land™. Me. Holmes noted that this
description was ackuowledged by Transport Canada on Exhibit 8, page 2, and Transport Canada
agreed that the land was not properly describad s “marginal land™.

Ms. O'Donnell acknowledged in cross-examination she was not familiar with the

actual traffic volume numbers on the highway at the Milk River location.

Ms. O'Dornnell acknowledged that she understood the rights she had in connection
with the proposed expropriation of her land and that she had legal counsel in connection with
entering into the Section 30 agreement.

{v)  Mr. Swanson

Mr. Swanson sdvised that he had been a resident of Milk River, or surrounding
arca, for his entire life and that he was 70 years of age. He acknowledged that he does not own
any property that is divectly affected by the proposed westerly realignment of Highway 4.

Mr. Swanson provided his recollection of a meeting approximetely seven years
ago with representatives of Alberta Infrasiructure. He had understood that representatives of the
Province of Alberta would be retuming 10 Milk River to have another public session on whether
an easterly or westerly route for Highway 4 should be selected, The Provinee did not hold
gnother public meeting, and the Provinee simply announced the westerly option would be

pursued approximately six weelks later,
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Mr. Swanson gave evidence that a pelition was prepared that included signatures
from residents of Coutts, Lethbridge, Milk River, and oher arcas expressing disagreement with

the western alignment option.

Mr. Swanson advised that he developed an idea of conducting a survey of
residents to collect opinions on an easlern roule versus a weslemn route to realign Highway 4.
This survey was done in conjunction with a political science professor. The survey was marked

as Exhibit 22.

M. Swanson advised that he also prepared a docwment which he described as the
“Big Picture” in connection with this project, which was marked as Exhibit 14, Mr. Swanson

reviewedl the various photographs that were included in Exhibin 14.

Mr. Swanson provided his opinion that the proposed westerly alignment of
Highway 4 was an attempt 1o fight the forces of nature, and in particular the erosion forces of the
Milk River, which would ultimately be futile as the forces of natwe would prevail.

M. Swanson also reviewed o collection of aerial photographs of the Milk River
area which were marked as Exhibit 23. Mr. Swanson provided his recollection of the changes in
the course taken by the Milk River over the last approximately 50 years snd provided exomples
of how the Mow of the River, with the forces of flooding and ice jamming, had changed and how

the erosion ocourred over the years,

Cross-Examination of Mr, Swanson

Mr, Holmes cross-cxamined Mr. Swanson briefly. However, Mr, Swanson could
not recall the evidence in chicf he provided on the subject of the forces of nature versns man-
made structures and Mr. Holines did oot pursue any further cross-examination.

(viy Dir. Hinman

Mr. Hinman advised that he was the MLA for the Cardston Taber Warner area,
which included the Town of Milk River. He indicated that he was [rom Welling, Albera.
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Mr. Hinman advised that he has had experience as o farmer, rimcher, business

entrepreneur and various other venlures. He also indicated he was leader of the Alberta Alliance,

Mr, Hinman gave evidence that he was consulted by many constiluents, and
others, regarding the proposed westerly alignment of Highway 4. Mr, Hinman provided his
npinion that the people of Milk River wanted the Highway 4 alignment 1o be in the west,
although he later corrected himself to say that he actually meant to the east,

Mr. Hinman gave his own personal opinion that he thought an easterly route was

belter.

Mr. Hinman began to give his opinion on some of the engineering evidence that
had been given in the course of this Hearing. At this point, the Inguiry Officer guestioned
whether it was appropeiate or relevant o the Inguiry what Mr. Hinman's views were on evidence
provided in the course of this Hearing. Mr. Denecky then bad Mr. Hinman simply confirm his

impression that most people who contacted him felt the easterly route was better.

Cross-Examination of Mr. Hinman

Mr. Holmes atlempted to cross-cxamine Mr, Hinman on the methodology he
employed to make the statement that o majority of people with whom he spoke preferred the
casterly route, Mr, Hinman avoided answering the question and took issue with statistics in

general, Mr, Hinman further opined that Mr. Halmes® question was “a ridiculous question™.

Mr. Hinman was asked if he thought the entire Inquiry was ridiculows, and
Mr. Hinmun responded that he thought it was o last chance for democracy and common sense Lo
prevail. Further, he testified that he would be able w sleep with himself, hecause he had shared
the concerns of the people of Alberta, especially the people of Milk River, as he perecived them,

with the Inquiry Officer.

Mr. Holmes attempied to veturn to his origingl line of questioning, o which
Mr. Hinman finally responded that he estimated that he spoke with approximately 70 or 80
people shout the proposed easterly versus westerly alignment of Highway 4.
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Mr. Hinman then indicated, in his view, reasons why Otlawa says il's okay to use
the westerly alignment. Mr. Hinman indicated that deer don't read and they do not respect right

of ways.

(d) FURTHER EVIDENCE OF AIT AND THE
OBJECTOR RE ICE JAMS AND SPURS

(i AIT

The Expropriating Authorily submitted by way of correspondence & lelter from
Ralph Walters on the subject of ice jams and the construction of the Spurs, By agreement, this

aubmission was marked Exhibit 24,

This Exhibit ncludes a review of Mr, Walters’ gualifications.  He has a
Bachelor's degree in engineering and a Master’s degree in engincering, and has over 40 years'
experience  in transportation and bridge engineering work, including many  vewrs of
hiydrotechnical and river engineering designs for river crossings, highway planning and
constraelion supervision of bridges and roadways.

By way of the letter marked Exhibit 24, Mr. Walters provided general comments
and specific comments. In his general commenis, Mr. Walters outlined the conditions of the
Milk River that were carefully considered in designing a method to protect the bank adjacent o
the Madge Lands from erosion, and thus prevemt damage to the proposed realignment of
Higbrway 4. He explained in detail why Spurs were selected, the location of the Spurs, and the
designed impact on the flow of the Milk River at this location to preven: or reduce further

Erusien,

Mr. Wallers provided specific comments an certain evidence given by Mr, Hodge,
on behalf of the Objector. Mr. Walters noted thal the design and placement of the Spurs would
not eliminate scour. However. they are designed so that the scour is moved away from the toe of
the bank to protect the bank from excessive erosion; further, that ice jams and flooding at this
location cannat be eliminated. However, the Spur design, and the presence of the flood plain on
the oppoesite side of the River, mitigate the effect of ice jamming, giving the water a larger rather

than restricted area within which to [low.
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Mr. Walters concludes that the Spurs were designed with flooding, ice flow and

ice jams taken into copsideration in the overall design.
iy  Objector

After reviewing Exhibit 24, the Objector submitled a letter from Mr. Hodge,
which, by consent, was marked as Exhibit 25.

In this letter, Mr. Hodge comments on Mr, Walters” letter of July 6, Exhibit 24,

Mr. Hodge reiterated some general background information with respeet lo his
involvement in the ©'Brien Engineering Report (Exhibit 19) and his comments on the Slantec
Report (Exhibits 3 and 4).

Mr. Hodge also stated that ice jams and flooding at the proposed location of the
Spurs could be extensive. Should there be extensive Mooding, and if it exceeds the designed
river bank protection and the 100-year flood level elevation, then damages could be creessive.
Such Moo waters could enter behind the Spurs, resulling in significant erosion and damages.
Further, Mr. Hodge states that the construction of the Spurs will likely cause ice jams or flooding
o eccur on the eastern bank and cause damage to this flood plain on the east bank side of the
Milk River. Finally, Mr. Hodge submits that a significant ice jam or Mooding at the location of
the Spurs could cause floodwaters to extend back to the Town of Milk River und to the

inferpretalive centrefrecreation arcas,
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PART 3 - SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
fa)  AIT

Mr, Holmwes made reference in his argument to the importance of considering
Exhibit @ and Exhibit 10. Although there was one expropriation, one could consider it an area of
land that was required for two purposes:

(a) A sliver of lond that was required for the actual construction of
Highway 4; and

(b} A larger triangular piece of property that was required fo construel and
maintain the Milk River bank stability, so that Highway 4 in the westerly
alipnment would not be subjected to risk from erosion in the future,

Mr. Holmes reviewed the overall reasons for the twinning of Highway 4 and the
requirements For this under the Canamex Agrecment between Canada, the United States, and
Mexico.

Mr. Holmes reviewed the fuct that there are presently at-grade road imtersections
and that these would be improved with the proposed project.

Mr. Holmes reviewed the cvidence with respect to moving the CPR line and
providing the new spur line access to the grain elevator and commercial establishments in Milk
River. The number of trains per week was low and the traffic volume was low, The minimum
warning and safety standands for o rondwayfrailway level crossing were in Tact exceeded with

respect Lo the proposed signage amd fashing waming signs.

Mr. Holmes noted that all the evidence cstablishes that the width of the proposed
right-of-way easement to allow the proposed construction was appropriale, He submilted that
the width of the right-of-way, and therefore the expropriation of the Madge Lands, were required
to meet all of the design proposals that are set forth on Exhibit @ between the Plains Gas
marketing plant and the Milk River. This includes a service road, a tie into the CPR rail line, the
proposed four-lane divided highway, and the propesed road access to the Milk River to permit
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construction of the Spurs, Mr, Holmes noted that Mr. O'Brien had no concerns over the quantily
of land that AIT states is required and that Mr. Hodge never addressed the issue.

Mr. Holmes noted that even Mr. Madge gave evidence that the riverbank is
unstable and is eroding continuously at the hend in the River where the Madge Lands are
located. Mr. Holmes noted that this situation hes been addressed by the Stanice engineers which

has resulied in the proposed construction of Spurs,

Mr. Holmes noted that there wos somewhat of o “checkered past” with respect to
the process of decision making on the alignment of Highway 4. First, easterly routes were
proposed.  Then some people in Milk River were opposed and further consideration led to the
development of the weslerly alignment route. Mr. Holmes noted that even the survey provided
by Mr. Swanson shows that there is o significant number of Milk River residents who are
praponents of the westerly alignment.

Mr., Holmes noted that there are good reasons for the westerly alignment of
Highway 4 which were reviewed by Mr. Hempsey. These include the fact that the railway and
roadway remain together in a corridor. This would allow the Town to expand in a northward or
eastward direction without encountering either a major roadway or railway. Further, the
westerly alignment achieves one of the Town’s objectives of remaining visible from Highway 4
which the easterly alignment would not achieve. Finally, access to the Town of Milk River is

equally as good [vom the western alignment as the eastern alignments that had been proposed.

Mr. Holmes noted that the whole question of erosion has been dealt with by
qualilied engineers, both in the course of the Reid Crowther Report and thereafier in the Stantec
Report (Exhibit 2, Section 5.4.2, and Exhibit 3, Section 2,1.1).

Mr. Holmes poswlated that even the existing Highway 4 may be threatened at
some time in the future without some measures being taken to prevent erosion to the bank of the

Milk River at or around the Madge Lands.

With respect to legal points, Mr. Holmes noted that Section 8 of the Act oullines
the duties of the Inquiry Officer.
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Mr. Holmes submitted that the objectives of the Expropriating Authority could
propedy include prolection of the proposed highway construction, which in this case includes the
reinforcement of the Milk River bank and constructing [acilities to allow maintenance and repair
ol the same.,

Mr. Holmes submitted that the meaning of “fair, sound and reasonably necessary™
can be found in the review of an article written by JW. Morden and cases referred {o therein.
Mr. Holmes quoled passages from this article. In particular, “fair™ he submits is a balancing
between the loss of the Madge Lands to Mr. Madge versus the public interest and benefil in
constructing a roadway and allowing it o be maintained and repaired. He submits that the public
interest clearly exceeds and is outweighed by the loss (o Mi, Madge. Further, “sound” is mel
here because the Expropriating Authority is only faking as much land as is required to meet the
Expropriating Authority’s objectives.  "Reasonably necessary” 1o meel the objectives of the
Expropriating Authority is satisfied here because the objectives include lhe twinning of
Highway 4 and the objective of safely constructing the highway including the adjacent Milk
River bank stability,

Mr. Holmes submitted that the option of constructing the Spurs by using access to
the lands to the south of the Madge property was nol squarely put to the Expropriating
Authority’s witnesses, in particular, Mr, Brownbridge.

(h) Argument of Behall of the Objectors

Mr. Denecky submitted that his recollection was that he did cross-examine
Mr. Brownbridge on access to the River from the lands immediately south of the Madge
property, where the riverbank was much lower.

There was then a discussion between the Inguiry Officer, Mr. Denecky, and
Mr. Holmes on the gquestion of what evidence there was that there could be access to the Milk
River bank for construction of the Spurs by gaining access from property to the south of Madge's
property.  Mr. Denecky offered thal the River could be diverted and access to the riverbed for
construction.  Thereafter, for maintenance, there could be perhaps access by boat or barge.
However, Mr. Denecky did not refer to any evidence to support these submissions.
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Mr, Denecky submilted, by way of comrespondence, submissions with respect to
the evidence by correspondence submitted by Mr, Walters and Mr, Hodge (Exhibits 24 and 25,
respectively). Mr, Denecky submits that the evidence of Mr, Hodge should be preferred over the
evidence of Mr. Wallers regarding the placement of the Spurs and impact on flooding, ice jams,
and erosion of the Milk River banks.

Mr. Denccky submitied there was a heavy onus on the Expropriating Authority to
show that the expropriation of the Madge Lands was fair, sound, and reasonably necessary for its
objectives. He referred to the textbool, The Law of Expropriotion and Compensation in
Cangea, second edition, Eric Todd, and a 1949 decision of Diggon-Hibben Lid. v, R, quoted

therein.

Mr. Denecky also made reference o the decision of Baker v. Cancda | 1999]
2 5CR $17, to support the propesition that there is a heavy onus to show [airmess in proceedings
such og this expropriation inguiry because of a privative clause in seciion 17 of the Act.
Mr. Denecky supplemented his oral remarks by providing the Inguiry Officer with excerpts of
ihis decision that support the proposition that a duty of faimess is owed Lo the objector in

administralive proceedings, such as the within.,

Mr. Denecky also provided guotes from The Low of Expropriation aned
Compensation in Conada, supra, al p.25 and 26, for the proposition thal expropriation stalules
should be strctly construed in favouwr of the individual whose property rights are affected.
Further, he referred o p 49 of this text in support of the propasition that the Alberia legislation
pucports to remove the within proceeding from the scope of judicial revisw.

Mr. Denccky submitted that this heavy onus on the Expropriating Authority has
not been met, The intended expropriation was not “fair” becausc there was no follow-up public
consultation by the Province of Alhena as promised to Milk River residents, Funher, the
Premier had stated publicly that all reasonable alternatives would be considered, yet thercafier
the westerly route was seléclcd. Mr. Denecky indicated that the Stunice Engineering Group only

looked at the westedy route and did not look at all reasonable alteratives.

HAW oo st G199 NGS5 503 DOC

|
Page 85 of 94 Report: CR_7900



Attachment #5

=36 -

Mr. Denecky submitted that no functional study on the easterly routes had been
done, only the Reid Crowther Report, which was simply accepled by Staniec because they were

never instructed to look at alternative routes,

Mr, Denecky submilted thal the intended expropriation cannot be “sound” for a
niwmber of reasons,  Firstly, an alternate easterly route was more economic, Mr. Denecky
submits this is supported by the O'Brien Report which had not apparently been considered by
representatives of the Province. Mr. Denecky indicated that the evidence of AIT was that the
detailed financial analysis of the cost is presently underway bul had not yel been completed and
that the Expropriating Authorily had not discharged its heavy onus to demonsirale that the
proposed  project was erolore “sound™ lrome an economic perspective, and  therelore the
proposed expropriation of the Madge Lands could not be considered sound, Mr., Denecky
indicated that the Expropriating Authority must provide this detailed costing information of
various options (o meet its heavy onus.  Further, it was premature lo issue a Notice of

Expropration until such cost matters are linalized.

Mr. Denecky noted that the Stantec Report, Exhibil 3, was preliminary on a
number of points, including details of the proposed demobilization of railway beds, future cost of

Myovers, tolal cost for the westerly alignment, and costs associated with relocation of rail lines.

Mr. Denccky indicated that the question of costs and safety. sccording (o the
evidence on behalf of the Objector, is at least equal as between the far enstern route advoented by

Mr, O'Brien and others, and the westerly route.

Mr, Denecky subumits that the Expropriating Authodity is obliged o provide Tinal
detajled designs to the expropriation officer, not the preliminary designs found in the Stantec
Report,

Mr. Denecky indicaled that Spurs should probably be constructed on the bank,
quite independent of any realignment of Highway 4 issues. He submitted that this could be
accomplished by entering through the property immediately south of the Madge property.

In considering whether the intended expropriation is “reasonably necessary”,
Mr. Denecky submitied that we had essentially two possible locations for the alignment of
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Highway 4; the far easterly location and the westerly location, He submitted (hat the evidence
was that cach location was at least as good as the other, and therefore it could not be said that the
westerly alignment was “reasonably necessary™.  Mr. Denecky suggested that there were
politcally motivated decisions to take the westerly option for relocation of Highway 4,

Mr, Denecky submilted that the law in Ontare is diffeent then the law of
Alberta.  He submitted that the Ontario law allows an appeal from a decision of an inguiry
officer and did not contain the strong privative provisions that are found in the Alberta

Exprapriation Act.

Mr. Denecky submitted that that Inguiry Officer should conclude that the intent of

expropriation is not fair, sound and reasonably necessary, and award costs (o the Objector.
(e}  Reply Argument of AIT

Mr. Holmes noted that Mr. Brownbridge's evidence was that Stantec's
instructions were to proceed with the design and construction engineering assuming a westerly
route for Highway 4. Stantec was not asked to further evaluale or compare westerly rontes and
roules to the east of the Town of Milk River. Therefore, the subwmissions of Mr. Denecky
concerning the failure of Stantec to take certain steps is not appropriots because this was never

part of Stantec’s instructions from ATT.,

Mr. Holmes further submitted that the ISL study and the Reid Crowther Report
were both functional studies, and both reviewed and compared options for the routing of
Highway 4 in the Milk River area. Community concems raised afier the ISL study led to the
Reid Crowiher study and report on casterly versus wesiern options for Highway 4. It was
obvious that there was a difference of opinion within residents of Milk River to the point that the

Province made o decision.

Mr. Holmes noted that the lack of detailed planning and costing were simply a
function of the status of the state of the project, and the lack of such details ave not relevant Lo
consideration of the proposed expropriation by the Inquiry Officer. In wny event, Mr. Helmes
submitted that the Stantec Report, Exhibii 3, is more than a sufTicient level of detail to justify the
need for the intended expropriation and therefore Hearing of this nature by the Inguiry Officer.
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PART 4 - FINDINGS OF FACT

The ohjective of the Expropriating Authotity is 1o scquire the Madge Lands for
the construction, development and smaintenance of a highway (public road), namely, the
proposed realignment of Highway 4 (Exhibit 11).

The proposed realignment and upgrading of Highway 4 is required as part of the
Province of Alberta’s objective in upprading Highway 4 so that it complies with the
requirements of the Canamex accord, which establishes the requirement for a twinoed divided

highway hetween Canada, the United States, and Mexico.

There docs not appear to be any dissgreement by the Objector that a realignment
of Highway 4 is required to improve maffic flow adjacent 1o the Town of Milk River, Rather, the
position of the Objector is that the improvement 1o Highway 4 should be achieved by way of an
alignment east of the Town of Milk River, rather than the proposed alignment 1o the west of Milk
River. If an easterly alignment was chosen, then the Madge Lands would nol need 1o he
expropriated. '

If the westerly alignment of Highway 4 is to be constrocted, then there must be an
expropriation of the Madge Lamnds, These lands are required to upgrade Highway 4 o o divided
four-lane roadway. The Expropriasting Authority also has established that the lands are required
to allow for the construction of Spurs at the bank of the Milk River to try to eliminate or redoce
ice jams, flooding, and erosion of the bank in 8 westerly ditection toward Higlway 4.

There has been consultation by representatives of the Province of Alberta with the
community of Milk River. There has been a functional study performed, comparing various
proposed alignments. There has been consultation with Town representatives.  Thereafter, the

Provinee mule a decigion selecting the westerly route,

There was no evidence that the sclection of the westerly route was capricious,
done for political or other improper motives, Owuite the contrary, there are a number of sound
reasons for locating the Highway 4 realigniment 1o the west of Milk River, ncluding: kecping

the railway and roadway in ane corridor; allowing Town visibility for travelers on Highway 4:
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not hampering Town access to the cemetery; and not interfering with, expansion of the Town in

an eastward or northward divection,

The Objector certainly established through his witnesses that there are arguably
cerfain advantages to an casterly route which may include reduced cost of construction and no

requirement 0 remove existing rail lines,

In arpument, counsel for the Objector suggested that the lands required lor access
Lo the Milk River and construction, inspection, and maintenence of the Spurs could be done by
accessing land immediately south of the property owned by Mr. Madge. However, there was no
evidence 1o support how this could be achieved from an engineering and construction
perspective. Accordingly, there was no evidentiary basis to suggest what credible altemnative
there is for hank protection, which all parties agree would be prudent to prevent continued
erosion of the Madge Lands.

It appears that all landowners in the affected area, including wilnesses for the
Objector, have reluctantly agreed 10 allow thewr lund to be wken for (he purpose of the

realignment of and improvement to Highway 4 in the Milk River area.

The expertise of the wimesses called by the Expropriating Authority is far greater
than the expertise of the purported expert witnesses called by the Objector.  Mr, Walters is [ar
imore qualified than Mr. Hodge w speak on the subject of bank protection and construction of the
Spurs.  Mr, Hempsey, Mr. Brownbridge, Mr. Marin and Mr. Younger have considerable
expertence in dealing with the issues upon which they testified, unlike Mr. O'Brien on behalf of

the Objector, who is essentially a life-long surveyor.
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PART 5 - OPINION ON THE MERITS OF THE
EXPROPRIATION AND REASONS THEREFOR

The scope of this Inquiry is set oul in section 15(8) of the Act which states:

The ingquiry officer shall inquire inte whether the intended expropelation is feir,
sound and reasomably necessary in the sehievement of the objectives of the
Exproprioting Authority,

To achieve the objectives of the Expropriating Authorily in improving and
realigning Highway 4, the Expropriating Authority has demonstrated that it is fair, sound, and
reasonably necessary that the Madge Lands be cxpropriated,

There is clearly a difference of opinion within the Milk River community as to
whether an easterly route or westerly route for the realignment and improvement to Highway 4 is
most desivable. The survey taken by Mr. Swanson demonstrates this is the case. There are pros
and cons to each proposed alignment. Representatives of the Province of Alberta decided, for
Bewies fiele rensons, to seleel the westerly route,

In most situations where the roadway is (o be built or o be realigned, it is likely
that one could construct a few equally acceptable routes.  Accordingly, it cannot be, generally
speaking, a hasis for demonsirating that the intended expropristion is not fair, sound, and
reasonably necessary, simply because there are competing allemative routes, all of which have

pros and cons in compatison to the route chosen by the Expropriating Authority.

The Expropristing Autherity’s  represenlatives  have engaged in public
consultation, and have engaged professionals to look at design, construction, safety,
environmental impact, and all other relevant considerations in selecting and preparing the
preliminary design for the westerly alignment and improvement to Highway 4 near Milk River,

The evidence presented on hehall of the Objector was gencrally from individuals
who are either not qualified or far Jess gualified than Stantec, Mr. Younger from CPR, and
EarthTech wilnesses who gave evidence on behalf of the Expropriating Authority.  Mere
speculation from Far less qualified witnesses aboul excessive ice jams or one in 100-year

flooding causing unforeseen damages to the Spurs certainly docs not constitule evidence upon
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which the Inguiry Officer could conclude that the ohjectives of the Expropriating Authority
woild not be met by the intended expropriation.

Certainly, the personal observations of Ms. O'Donnell, Mr. Swanson, and
Mr. Madge over many decades must be given some weight. 1 have no doubt that their
uhservations of periodic ice jam and Mooding problems are accurate. However, when it comes to
construction of bank erosion protection, the evidence of experts must prevail. The experts called
an behalf of the Objector were nof in a position Lo credibly crilicize the proposed design of the
Spurs and construction of the proposed upgraded Highway 4.

Accordingly, 1 find the intended cxpropriation of the Madge Lands is fair, sound,
and reasonably necessary in achievement of the ohjectives of the Expropriating Authority to
constraet, develop, and maintain the upgraded Highway 4 adjacent 1o Milk River. Specifically,
the construction of the Spurs is required to maintain the upgraded Highway 4 as proposed.

Pursuant to section 15(10) of the Act, the roasonable costs of the Objector in

connection with this Inguiry shall be paid by the Expropriating Authorily.

DATED at the City of Edmonten, in the Province of Alberta, this 2th day of

July, 2006, ::,..-e"":,-f';f"", S -~
e
e T
ﬁ GRAHAM McLENNAN
Inguiry Officer
600, 12220 Stony Plain Road
Edmonton AB TSN 3Y4
Phone: (7800 482-922]
Fax: (780) 482-9100

THIS NOTICE OF INQUIRY 15 FOR SERVICE ON:

Swingam Denecky
Steve Denecky, Q.C.
Counsel for the Objector
314 — 3" Street Sonth
Lethbridge AB T1J 3Y3
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Alberta Justice

Christopher D Holmes

Counsel for the Expropriating Authority
Minister of Infrastructure and Transportation
2™ Floor, Peace Hills Trust

[0 ] — 109 Street

Edmonton AR TSI 358
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APPENDIX 1 - EXHIBITS

1. Highway 4 Functional Planning Swdy, Coutts 1o Lethbridge, Final Report Tuly 1906,
Volumes | and 2,

r Functional Planning Study Highway 4 at Milk River Final Report prepared by Reid

Crowther May 2000,

iL§ Albertn Infrastructure & Transportation  Environmental  Assessment of Proposed
Highway 4 and CPR Railway Relocation, Milk River, Alberta, Yolume 1, Main Report,
prepared by Stantec.

4, Alberta Infrastructure & Transportation  Environmental  Assessment of  Proposed

Highway 4 and CPR Railway Relocation, Milk River, Alberta, Volume 2, Appendices,
prepared by Stantec.

5 Transport Capada Road/Railway Grade Crossings Document dated October 24, 2002,
6. Alberta Community Development Memorandum dated Felwuary 8, 2005,
T Streel Lighting Site Plan prepared for Alberta Infrastructure by Stantec,

8. Transmittal Document for Environmental Assessment of Propesed Highway 4 and CPR
Ruoilway Relocation at Witk River, Alberta; Proponent Responses to [SC Review and
Public Input, preparedl by Stantec May 2006,

9 Alignment Plan prepared for Alberta Infrastructure and Transportation June 2006

10.  Proposed Expropriated Property prepared for Alberta Infrastructure and Transportation
by Stantec.

11, Naotice of Tntention to Expropriate, Motice of Objection, Notice of Appointment of
[ngquiry Officer, Motice of Extension,

12, CV of Leslie John Hempsey, P.Eng., Senior Transportation Engineer, EarthTech.
13, CV of William L. Brownbridge, P.Eng., Senior Project Manager, Stantec.

14, Seeing the Big Picture, Proposed Canamex Highway Bypass of the Town of Milk River,
prepared by Wray Oscar Swanson, photographs (a) through (i)

15, Documents prepared by Stantec Consulting Limited as part of the design for the project.
16, CV of Tohn Martin, M.Sc., Envitonmental Consuliam (Transportation), Stantec.

7. Public Motice wherein CPR applied on June 26, 2006, to the Canadian Transportation
Agency for permission to relocate the railway.
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18. Company Profle of O Brien Engineering & Surveys Lid.

19, Preliminary Design and Cost Estimate for Highway 4 at Milk River préparved by O Brien
Engineering & Surveys Ltd. August 2000,

20, Land Tille Certificate in the name of Paul Madge.
21, Bundle of photographs taken by Bruce Madge.

22, Milk River Highway 4 Alternate Routes Survey prepared by Peter MeCormick March 10,
2001,

23, Taped layout of Alberta Agriculiure aerial photographs.

24, Letter and CV from Ralph Walters, M.Eng., P.Eng., Senior Consultant, Bridges, Stantec
Consulting. dated Tuly 6, 2006,

235, Letter from EJ. Hodge, P.Eng., Msc, ALS,, Senior Consullant — Civil Projects, EJ,
Hodge and Associates Lud,, dated July 14, 2006,
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